





CONVENTION ON BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY

Distr. GENERAL

UNEP/CBD/COP/5/3 25 February 2000

ORIGINAL: ENGLISH

CONFERENCE OF THE PARTIES TO THE CONVENTION ON BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY Fifth meeting
Nairobi, 15-26 May 2000
Item 9 of the provisional agenda*

REPORTS OF THE SUBSIDIARY BODY ON SCIENTIFIC, TECHNICAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE

Report of the fifth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice

CONTENTS

<u>Agenda</u> <u>item</u>		<u>Paragraphs</u>	<u>Page</u>
1.	OPENING OF THE MEETING	1-6	3
2.	ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS	7-19	4
3.	REPORTS	20-106	9
4.	PRIORITY ISSUES	107-181	22
5.	DRAFT PROVISIONAL AGENDA FOR THE SIXTH MEETING OF THE SUBSIDIARY BODY ON SCIENTIFIC, TECHNICAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE	182-185	31
6.	DATES AND VENUE OF THE SIXTH MEETING OF THE SUBSIDIARY BODY ON SCIENTIFIC, TECHNICAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE	186-188	32
7.	OTHER MATTERS	189-195	32
8.	ADOPTION OF THE REPORT	196	34
9.	CLOSURE OF THE MEETING	197	34
	Annexes		
	COMMENDATIONS ADOPTED BY THE SUBSIDIARY BOI		
	CIENTIFIC, TECHNICAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE THE MEETING		35
V	7/1 Cooperation with other bodies		35
			<u>Page</u>
V	7/2 Pilot phase of the clearing-house mecha	anism	37

/ . . .

^{*} UNEP/CBD/COP/5/1.

UNEP/CBD/COP/5/3

Page 2

	V/3	Review of the Global Taxonomy Initiative	41
	V/4	Alien species: guiding principles for the prevention, introduction and mitigation of impacts	43
	V/5	Inland water biological diversity	50
	V/6	Marine and coastal biological diversity: implementation tools for the programme of work and coral bleaching	51
	V/7	Forest biological diversity: status and trends and identification of options for conservation and sustainable use	57
	V/8	Biological diversity of dryland, Mediterranean, arid, semi-arid, grassland and savannah ecosystems: options for the development of a programme of work	58
	V/9	Agricultural biological diversity: assessment of ongoing activities and priorities for a programme of work	65
	V/10	Ecosystem approach: further conceptual elaboration	78
	V/11	Development of indicators of biological diversity	85
	V/12	Sustainable use of the components of biological diversity: identification of sectoral activities that could adopt biodiversity-friendly practices and technologies	86
	V/13	Establishment of guidelines for the second national reports, including indicators and incentive measures	87
	V/14	Ad hoc technical expert groups: terms of reference, and roster of experts and proposal on a uniform methodology for their use	89
II.	SUBSI	SIONAL AGENDA FOR THE SIXTH MEETING OF THE DIARY BODY ON SCIENTIFIC TECHNICAL AND OLOGICAL ADVICE	95
III.	SUBSI	PROVISIONAL AGENDA FOR THE SEVENTH MEETING OF THE DIARY BODY ON SCIENTIFIC, TECHNICAL AND	
	TECHN	OLOGICAL ADVICE	96

AGENDA ITEM 1: OPENING OF THE MEETING

- 1. The fifth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice (SBSTTA), established under Article 25 of the Convention on Biological Diversity, was held in Montreal at the headquarters of the International Civil Aviation Organization (ICAO) from 31 January to 4 February 2000.
- 2. The meeting was opened at 10 a.m. on Monday, 31 January 2000, by Mr. Cristián Samper (Colombia), Chair of the Subsidiary Body, who welcomed participants and expressed his gratitude to the previous Chair, Mr. A. H. Zakri (Malaysia) for his contribution to the work of the Subsidiary Body. Having highlighted the importance of the adoption of the Cartagena Protocol on Biosafety two days previously, he said that SBSTTA needed to be consolidated to make it an effective bridge between the Convention and the scientific community. It had to make clear and specific recommendations to the Conference of the Parties and to eschew political debate. He then briefly outlined the main issues before the Subsidiary Body at the current meeting.
- 3. Opening statements were also made by Mr. Hamdallah Zedan, Executive Secretary of the Convention on Biological Diversity, and Mr. Paul Chabeda, Division for Environmental Conventions of the United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP), speaking on behalf of Mr. Klaus Töpfer, Executive Director of UNEP.
- 4. Mr. Zedan said that, at its current meeting, SBSTTA was to develop recommendations on basic concepts, including sustainable use and the ecosystem approach, which were fundamental for the implementation of the Convention. He invited participants to look beyond their main task of further defining the two concepts and to start reflecting on ways and means of putting them into practice. Noting that meetings such as the Norway/United Nations Conference on the Ecosystem Approach for the Sustainable Use of Biological Diversity played an important role in bridging the gap between science and policymaking, he recalled that SBSTTA had invited him to prepare a detailed proposal on peer review and scientific assessments under the Convention. In that respect, he drew attention to the report of the brainstorming meeting on the subject that had been organized by the Secretariat and hosted by the Government of Norway (UNEP/CBD/COP/5/INF/1).
- 5. Of the thematic areas to be discussed at the meeting, he drew particular attention to the need to develop draft programmes of work on agricultural biodiversity and on the biodiversity of drylands. He invited the Subsidiary Body to ensure that the programme of work on drylands was complementary to the programme activities under the Convention to Combat Desertification and to consider the extent to which the two processes should be linked, institutionally or otherwise, based on the precedent of the programme of work on inland waters and the Convention on Wetlands. In each of the thematic areas, the various organs of the Convention were working ever more closely with other conventions and international organizations, as called for by the Conference of the Parties. As the programmes moved to their operational phase, he looked forward to increased collaborative efforts. With regard to the documentation before the meeting, he said that, in preparing the documents, the Secretariat had convened a number of liaison groups, composed of experts and institutions on the relevant topics. He thanked the experts and organizations that had participated in the groups for their contribution and the Governments and organizations, in particular France, UNEP, the United

Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO) and the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), that had provided facilities and financial support for the meetings. He also expressed his sincere appreciation to the Parties that had provided financial assistance for the participation of developing countries and countries with economies in transition in the current meeting, namely, Canada, New Zealand, Sweden, Switzerland and the United Kingdom.

6. Mr. Chabeda said that UNEP had very high expectations of SBSTTA as the special body established under the Convention on Biological Diversity to provide timely and sound science-based advice to the Conference of the Parties. It was incumbent upon SBSTTA at its current meeting to set the pace for implementation of initiatives that would have the most positive impact possible not only on ecosystem health but also on options to meet the human needs of the rapidly growing global population. UNEP had set in motion processes and activities for proactive cooperation with other environmental conventions, and the Conference of the Parties would be fully apprised of such initiatives at its forthcoming fifth meeting. It was UNEP's firm conviction that SBSTTA, in concert with such future complementary modalities as the Conference of the Parties might deem appropriate, would strive to be equal to the challenges and opportunities of the present time and the future with regard to the effective conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity worldwide.

AGENDA ITEM 2: ORGANIZATIONAL MATTERS

A. Attendance

- 7. The meeting was attended by representatives of the following Contracting Parties and countries: Albania, Algeria, Antigua and Barbuda, Argentina, Armenia, Australia, Austria, Bahamas, Bangladesh, Barbados, Belarus, Belgium, Benin, Bhutan, Bolivia, Botswana, Brazil, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Cambodia, Cameroon, Canada, Central African Republic, Chad, Chile, China, Colombia, Comoros, Congo, Cook Islands, Costa Rica, Cote d'Ivoire, Croatia, Cuba, Czech Republic, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Denmark, Djibouti, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Egypt, El Salvador, Eritrea, Ethiopia, European Community, Finland, France, Gabon, Gambia, Georgia, Germany, Ghana, Greece, Grenada, Guinea, Guyana, Haiti, Holy See, Honduras, Hungary, Iceland, India, Indonesia, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Ireland, Italy, Jamaica, Japan, Jordan, Kenya, Kiribati, Kyrgyzstan, Latvia, Lebanon, Lesotho, Madagascar, Malawi, Malaysia, Mali, Mauritania, Mauritius, Mexico, Micronesia (Federated States of), Mongolia, Morocco, Myanmar, Namibia, Nepal, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nicaragua, Niger, Nigeria, Norway, Pakistan, Papua New Guinea, Peru, Philippines, Poland, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Republic of Moldova, Romania, Russian Federation, Rwanda, Saint Kitts and Nevis, Senegal, Seychelles, Slovakia, Slovenia, Solomon Islands, South Africa, Spain, Sri Lanka, Swaziland, Sweden, Switzerland, Syrian Arab Republic, Thailand, Togo, Tonga, Tunisia, Turkey, Uganda, Ukraine, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United Republic of Tanzania, United States of America, Uruguay, Vanuatu, Venezuela, Viet Nam, Zambia, Zimbabwe.
- 8. Observers from the following United Nations bodies, specialized agencies and other bodies also attended:

- (a) United Nations bodies: Department of Economic and Social Affairs, Global Environment Facility (GEF), United Nations Development Programme (UNDP), United Nations Environment Programme (UNEP);
- (b) Specialized agencies: Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO), United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO), World Bank, World Meteorological Organization (WMO);
- (c) Secretariats of treaty bodies: Barcelona Convention for the Protection of the Mediterranean Sea against Pollution and its Protocols, Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora (CITES), Convention on Wetlands of International Importance especially as Waterfowl Habitat (Ramsar), Multilateral Fund for the Implementation of the Montreal Protocol on Substances that Deplete the Ozone Layer, Scientific Council of the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals (CMS), United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in Those Countries Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification, particularly in Africa;
- (d) Scientific and Technical Review Panel of the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands;
- (e) Other intergovernmental bodies: African Centre for Technology Studies (ACTS), Arab Centre for Studies of Arid Zones and Drylands (ACSAD), CAB International (CABI), Commission for Environmental Cooperation (CEC), Commonwealth Secretariat, Institut de l'énergie et de l'environnement de la Francophonie (IEPF), Southern African Development Community, South Pacific Regional Environment Programme (SPREP).
- 9. The following other organizations were represented: Aboriginal Fisheries Commission, Africa Resources Trust, Asociacion ANDES, Association of State Wetland Managers, Biodiversity Action Network, Biolatina, BioNET International, Birdlife International, Canadian Museum of Nature, Center for International Forestry Research (CIFOR), Colorado State University, Consulative Group on International Agricultural Research (CGIAR), Environnement Énergie Consultants, Experco International Ltée, Global BioDiversity Institute, Global Environment Center, Global Environmental Forum, Greenpeace International, Indigenous Biodiversity Information Network (IBIN), Indigenous Peoples' Secretariat on the Convention on Biological Diversity, Indonesian Institute of Sciences, Information International Associates Inc., International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management (ICLARM), International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology (ICIPE), International Council for Science (ICSU), International Development Research Centre (IDRC), Inuit Circumpolar Conference, IUCN-The World Conservation Union, Lake Biwa Museum, Marine Resources Assessment Group, McGill University, Millenium Assessment Secretariat, National Aboriginal Forestry Association (NAFA), Netherlands Institute for the Law of the Sea - Utrecht University, Réseau d'Écologie Sociale Appliqué (RÉSAP), Royal Botanic Gardens Kew, Safari Club International, Society for Protection Nature/Lebanon (SPNL), Stanford University, STOP, SWAN International, University of Toronto, Université du Quebec à Montréal (UQAM), VERDIR, Wetlands International, World Conservation Monitoring Centre, World Endangered Species Protection Association (WESPA), World Federation for Culture Collections (WFCC), World Fisheries Trust, World Resources Institute (WRI), World Resources Institute/Millenium Assessment Secretariat, WWF-World Wide Fund for Nature.

B. <u>Election of officers</u>

10. In accordance with the decisions taken by the Conference of the Parties at its fourth meeting, held in Bratislava from 4 to 15 May 1998, and by the Subsidiary Body at its fourth meeting, held in Montreal from 21 to 25 June 1999, the Bureau of the fifth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice comprised the following members:

<u>Chair</u>: Mr. Cristián Samper (Colombia)

<u>Vice-Chairs</u>: Ms Mary Fosi Mbantenkhu (Cameroon)

Mr. David Brackett (Canada)

Mr. Kutelama Seleko (Democratic Republic of the Congo)

Mr. Martin Uppenbrink (Germany)
Ms Elaine Fisher (Jamaica)

Mr. A.H. Zakri (Malaysia) Mr. Dimitri Pavlov (Russian Federation)

Mr. Uilou Samani (Tonga)

Rapporteur: Mr. Jan Plesnik (Czech Republic)

11. At the 4th plenary session of the meeting, on 2 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body elected the following officers to serve on the Bureau for a two-meeting term, commencing at the end of the current meeting, to replace the current Bureau members from the Democratic Republic of the Congo, Germany, Jamaica and Malaysia:

Mr. Koffi Edinam Dantsey (Togo)

Mr. Anastasios Legakis (Greece)

Mr. Omar Ramirez (Dominican Republic)

Mr. Raed Bani Hani (Jordan)

12. Mr. Jan Plesnik (Czech Republic) was re-elected as a Bureau member for a further two-meeting term.

C. Adoption of the agenda

- 13. At the 1st plenary session of the meeting, on 31 January 2000, the Subsidiary Body adopted the following agenda on the basis of the provisional agenda that had been circulated as document UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/1:
 - 1. Opening of the meeting.
 - 2. Organizational matters:
 - 2.1. Election of officers;
 - 2.2. Adoption of the agenda;
 - 2.3. Organization of work.
 - 3. Reports:
 - 3.1. Cooperation with other bodies;
 - 3.2. Pilot phase of the clearing-house mechanism;
 - 3.3. Review of the Global Taxonomy Initiative;

- 3.4. Alien species: guiding principles for the prevention, introduction and mitigation of impacts;
- 3.5. Specific issues in ongoing work programmes on thematic areas:
 - 3.5.1. Inland water biological diversity: ways and means to implement the work programme;
 - 3.5.2. Marine and coastal biological diversity: consideration of implementation tools for the programme of work, and analysis of coral bleaching;
 - 3.5.3. Forest biological diversity: status and trends and identification of options for conservation and sustainable use.

4. Priority issues:

4.1. Thematic areas:

- 4.1.1. Programme of work for dryland, Mediterranean, arid, semi-arid, grassland and savannah biological diversity;
- 4.1.2. Agricultural biological diversity: assessment of ongoing activities and priorities for a programme of work;

4.2. Cross-cutting issues:

- 4.2.1. Ecosystem approach: further conceptual elaboration;
- 4.2.2. Development of indicators of biological diversity;
- 4.2.3. Sustainable use of the components of biological diversity: identification of sectoral activities that could adopt biodiversity-friendly practices and technologies;

4.3. Mechanisms for implementation:

- 4.3.1. Establishment of guidelines for the second national reports, including indicators and incentive measures;
- 4.3.2. Ad hoc technical expert groups: terms of reference, and rosters of experts and proposal on a uniform methodology for their use.
- 5. Draft provisional agenda for the sixth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice.

- 6. Dates and venue of the sixth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice.
- 7. Other matters.
- 8. Adoption of the report.
- 9. Closure of the meeting.

D. Organization of work

- 14. As provided for in its <u>modus operandi</u>, the Subsidiary Body decided to establish two open-ended sessional working groups for its fifth meeting: Working Group I, chaired by Ms Fosi (Cameroon), to consider agenda items 3.4, 3.5.2, 4.1.1 and 4.1.2; and Working Group II, chaired by Mr. Brackett (Canada), to consider agenda items 4.2.1, 4.2.2 and 4.2.3. It was decided that the remaining items would be taken up directly in plenary.
- 15. The Subsidiary Body also approved the provisional organization of work for the meeting as set out in annex II to the annotated provisional agenda (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/1/Add.1).

E. Reports of the Working Groups

- 16. As decided by the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice at the 1st plenary session of its fifth meeting, Working Group I met under the chairmanship of Ms Mary Fosi Mbantenkhu (Cameroon) to consider agenda items 3.4 (Alien species: guiding principles for the prevention, introduction and mitigation of impacts), 3.5.2 (Marine and coastal biological diversity: consideration of implementation tools for the programme of work, and analysis of coral bleaching), 4.1.1 (Programme of work for dryland, Mediterranean, arid, semi-arid, grassland and savannah biological diversity), and 4.1.2 (Agricultural biological diversity: assessment of ongoing activities and priorities for a programme of work). The Working Group held five meetings, from 1 to 3 February 2000. At its 2nd meeting, on 1 February, it elected Mr. Anastasios Legakis (Greece) to serve as Rapporteur.
- 17. The report of the Working Group (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/WG.I/L.1/Rev.1) was adopted by the Subsidiary Body at the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, and is incorporated into the present report under the relevant agenda items.
- 18. As decided by the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice at the 1st plenary session Working Group II met under the chairmanship of Mr. David Brackett (Canada) to consider agenda items 4.2.1 (Ecosystem approach: further conceptual elaboration), 4.2.2 (Development of indicators of biological diversity) and 4.2.3 (Sustainable use of the components of biological diversity: identification of sectoral activities that could adopt biodiversity-friendly practices and technologies). The Working Group held five meetings, from 1 to 3 February 2000. At its 3rd meeting, on 2 February, it elected Mr. Asghar Mohammadi Fazel (Islamic Republic of Iran) to serve as Rapporteur.
- 19. The report of the Working Group (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/WG.II/L.1/Rev.1) was adopted by the Subsidiary Body at the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4

February 2000, and is incorporated into the present report under the relevant agenda items.

AGENDA ITEM 3: REPORTS

3.1. <u>Cooperation with other bodies</u>

- 20. The Subsidiary Body took up agenda item 3.1 at the 1st plenary session of the meeting, on 31 January 2000. In considering the item, the Subsidiary Body had before it a note by the Executive Secretary on cooperation with other bodies (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/2). Introducing the item, the Secretariat pointed to section II of the note, which described the various liaison meetings and collaborative efforts with other organizations and conventions. The Secretariat also drew attention to the proposed joint work plan for the period 2000-2001 of the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Convention on Wetlands (Ramsar), contained in document UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/12.
- 21. The Secretariat recalled SBSTTA recommendation IV/1 C, in which the Executive Secretary had been requested to prepare a detailed proposal on how to address the issues of peer review and scientific assessments for the Convention for the next meeting of the Conference of the Parties, and which also recommended that a strategic plan be developed for the Subsidiary Body. Those proposals were currently being developed and were outlined in the note by the Executive Secretary on the operations of the Convention prepared for the fifth meeting of the Conference of the Parties (UNEP/CBD/COP/5/17).
- 22. During the discussion of item 3.1, statements were made by the following Contracting Parties and countries: Brazil, Jordan, European Community, Kenya, Mexico, Netherlands, Norway, Peru, Switzerland, United States of America. Statements were also made by the representatives of the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations (FAO); the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO); the Secretariat of the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in those Countries Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification, particularly in Africa; and the Chair of the inland water programme under DIVERSITAS. The Chair of the Scientific and Technical Review Panel of the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands of International Importance especially as Waterfowl Habitat also made a statement.
- 23. The representative of FAO said that FAO had collaborated technically with the Convention Secretariat on issues related to various programmes of work and cross-cutting issues. It hoped to continue that collaboration in the future and, in particular, to extend it to cover alien species, a matter on which there had already been discussions between the Secretariat of the International Plant Protection Convention and the Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. With regard to agricultural biodiversity, he highlighted the recent assessment of ongoing activities and instruments conducted by the FAO secretariat in response to the request of the Conference of the Parties and in collaboration with the Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity. He also drew attention to the preparation of the first report on the state of the world's animal genetic resources. He noted that much remained to be done in the areas of microbial genetic resources and functional biodiversity in agriculture and on the understanding of goods and services provided by agricultural biodiversity.

- 24. The representative of UNESCO said the elaboration of the ecosystem approach was of critical importance to the implementation of the Convention. The World Network of Biosphere Reserves operated in some ways parallel to the principles set out in the note by the Executive Secretary, and UNESCO would be interested in seeing how it could cooperate with the Convention in delivering an approach that integrated conservation, sustainable use and cultural appreciation of biological diversity by using the network of Biosphere Reserves, which represented a network of living laboratories. UNESCO also expected to work with the Secretariat, Parties and key institutions to advance scientific aspects of the Global Taxonomy Initiative. On marine and coastal biological diversity, UNESCO would develop its future work along the areas of concern identified by SBSTTA and the Conference of the Parties. It also hoped to extend its activities in the ecosystem aspects of the issue of alien species. With regard to public awareness and education, he drew attention to the proposed initiative that UNESCO was discussing with the Secretariat.
- 25. The representative of the Secretariat of the Convention to Combat Desertification said that his Secretariat had been pleased to collaborate in the preparation for the current meeting of the background document for the thematic area of drylands biodiversity. The implementation of the programme of work on the subject could take advantage of the existing national, subregional and regional action programmes under the Convention to Combat Desertification that were already in place in various affected areas. He hoped that SBSTTA would provide clear guidance in developing the programme of work more concretely. Solutions to the problems facing biological diversity in dryland areas required concerted action on a number of fronts and involving various stakeholders in order to influence positively the way resources were used and conserved.
- 26. The Chair of the Scientific and Technical Review Panel of the Convention on Wetlands drew attention to the proposed second joint work plan between the two conventions, covering the period 2000-2001 (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/12). The plan had been prepared as a collaborative undertaking between the two secretariats and in consultation with the Chair of SBSTTA. The concept of a joint work plan had been strongly supported by the conferences of the parties to the two conventions and could serve as a model for collaboration between the Convention on Biological Diversity and other bodies. The plan highlighted the need for collaboration between the scientific advisory bodies under the two conventions. He drew attention to the work under way in the Ramsar Convention technical bodies on such areas as incentives, alien species, environmental impact assessment and inventories. At the same time, the Scientific and Technical Review Panel had benefited from the work of SBSTTA on areas such as indicators, monitoring and early-warning systems. In considering the issue of ad hoc groups of experts under agenda item 4.3.2, he said that it was essential to take into account the technical knowledge assembled in the 10 working groups established within the Scientific and Technical Review Panel. He suggested that it would be useful to establish a clear inter-action between those working groups and the ad hoc groups to be set up under the Convention on Biological Diversity.
- 27. The Chair of the inland water programme under DIVERSITAS described his organization's projects in the area of inland waters biodiversity. Firstly, the projects were concerned with self-purification of water by ecosystem functions, as a replacement for chemical and technological purification. A second aspect was the search for indicators of water quality and quantity in tropical and semi-arid areas. Thirdly, research was being pursued into

sustainable use of inland-water products. The final aspect was an investigation into the relation between cultural and biological diversity as they related to traditional knowledge in areas such as fishing. Pilot studies had been in hand for some years in lakes, rivers and wetlands in the Western Pacific and Asian region, and work had begun in some African lakes in 1999.

- 28. In the ensuing discussion, several representatives noted the cooperation between the Secretariat and the other environmental conventions and international organizations, and encouraged the further development of such linkages.
- 29. Some representatives emphasized the need to make use of existing bodies in the pursuit of cooperation, and not seek to create new ones.
- 30. The representative of the Netherlands said that the Netherlands Coastal Zone Management Centre was willing to contribute to the implementation of the thematic programme of work on marine and coastal biological diversity. That would be done within the framework of the Convention for the Protection of the Marine Environment of the North-East Atlantic (the "OSPAR Convention"), and the Netherlands was prepared to support further cooperation between the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Oslo and Paris process.
- 31. The representative of the European Community, while welcoming the increased cooperation with the Convention on Wetlands, pointed out that a regional economic integration organization could not become a party to that Convention. He requested the secretariats of the two conventions to set up arrangements that would enable the European Community, as a Party to the Convention on Biological Diversity, to participate in the programmes of the two bodies, particularly with respect to inland waters.
- 32. Several representatives called for transparency within the Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF) and pointed to the need to identify the level of participation. One representative stated that negotiations on the development of the GBIF and its future operations should be carried out under an adequate institutional framework to ensure the full participation of the developing countries and the countries with economies in transition and to ensure that the GBIF was complementary to, and did not compete with, the clearing-house mechanism. That institutional framework needed to be defined as early as possible, under the umbrella of the United Nations, linked to a relevant international organization or organizations and ensuring the independence, adequate legal status and the largest possible base membership for the GBIF. He recommended that the Executive Secretary contact the relevant organizations to explore the possible institutional framework for the development and operations of the GBIF.
- 33. One representative of a non-Party to the Convention on Biological Diversity, noting that his country was committed to ratification of the Convention, strongly supported the efforts to improve the integration and utilization of science and said that cooperation with other bodies was an excellent way to do so. He particularly encouraged the cooperation with the Global Invasive Species Programme (GISP) and, with respect to coral bleaching, he said that the expert consultation on the subject organized by the Executive Secretary in October 1999 represented a model example of the kind of activities to be organized under the Subsidiary Body. He hoped that the Convention would pursue further cooperation with the International Coral Reef Initiative and the Global Coral Reef Monitoring Network. He commended the

Page 12

memorandum of understanding with the Centre for International Forestry Research. Pointing to the need for taxonomic information and understanding, he expressed strong support for a broad-based Global Taxonomy Initiative.

- 34. At the 4th plenary session of the meeting, on 2 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body considered a draft recommendation on cooperation with other bodies submitted by the Chair. Following an extensive exchange of views, the Subsidiary Body agreed that the Chairman should prepare a revised version of the draft recommendation for submission to a subsequent plenary session.
- 35. At the 5th plenary session of the meeting, on 3 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body considered the revised version of the draft recommendation (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.2) and adopted it as recommendation V/1. The text of the recommendation as adopted is contained in annex I to the present report.

3.2. Pilot phase of the clearing-house mechanism

- 36. The Subsidiary Body took up agenda item 3.2 at the 2nd plenary session of the meeting, on 31 January 2000. In considering the item, the Subsidiary Body had before it a note by the Executive Secretary on the pilot phase of the clearing-house mechanism (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/3). It also had before it, as information documents, the report of the independent review of the pilot phase of the clearing-house mechanism (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/1), the clearing-house mechanism's strategic plan (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/2), the clearing-house mechanism's longer-term programme of work (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/3), and a list of national focal points of the clearing-house mechanism as at 26 October 1999 (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/4).
- 37. Introducing the item, the Secretariat drew attention to the documentation prepared and to the suggested recommendations contained in the Executive Secretary's note submitted under the item.
- 38. During the discussion of the item, statements were made by the following Contracting Parties and countries: Argentina, Belgium, Brazil, Canada, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Ethiopia, European Community, Finland, Germany, Hungary, Italy, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Peru, Poland, Russian Federation, Switzerland, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America, Venezuela, Zimbabwe. A statement was also made by the representative of the Global Environment Facility (GEF).
- 39. Many representatives said that the clearing-house mechanism was an essential part of the Convention on Biological Diversity and congratulated the Secretariat on the work it had carried out and on the detailed and valuable documentation prepared on the subject. Many noted the need for adequate financial support from the financial mechanism for the implementation of the clearing-house mechanism's longer-term programme of work. A number of representatives made specific proposals to amend or supplement the content of the suggested recommendations.
- 40. Several representatives said that much of the work under the clearing-house mechanism to date had paid little attention to the specific needs of the developing countries. One of them said that, instead of putting further resources into website creation and focal points, it would be better to devote resources to providing direct technical assistance to other Parties, tailored to their needs. Another, noting that the suggested recommendations made no reference to an obligation of countries to transfer knowledge to the

developing countries to help them to implement the Convention, said that such countries needed to be encouraged to develop their own clearing-house mechanisms and provided with information on how and where to get assistance to that end. One representative considered that the Secretariat should explore ways to enable direct connections to be made between Parties with similar problems, resulting in either information transfer or cooperation to develop new management techniques.

- 41. Several representatives highlighted the strategic plan as a vital instrument for the development of the clearing-house mechanism. Some others considered that there should not be a stand-alone strategic plan for the clearing-house mechanism. It should be integrated into the strategic plan for the Convention as a whole. One representative said that, in considering how to implement the clearing-house mechanism, a series of models should be looked at.
- 42. One representative, addressing the longer-term programme of work and the strategic plan, said it was important to develop criteria and procedures for the full involvement of the stakeholders in the clearing-house mechanism. There was a need to develop and share services and tools to globally enhance the clearing-house mechanism and improve the synergies with other environmental conventions.
- 43. One other representative, speaking also as the Chair of the Informal Advisory Committee (IAC) on the clearing-house mechanism, and supported by several other representatives, enumerated a list of additional elements for the suggested recommendations, which included strategic priority areas.
- 44. Several representatives noted the valuable role played by IAC in the pilot phase, although one representative voiced concern over according any long-term role to it.
- 45. Several representatives, pointing to the fact that many developing countries had not yet established national focal points for clearing-house activities or had inadequate technical facilities, said it was necessary to continue assisting Parties through appropriate financial resources and capacity development.
- 46. While one representative considered that the initiative for the repatriation of information was extremely important, another representative said that the clearing-house mechanism was not the appropriate mechanism to deal with that question.
- 47. Several representatives, acknowledging the great need for global biological diversity data to be collected, managed and made available to users in a more coordinated and standardized way, and doubted whether that goal would be met by the Global Biodiversity Information Facility (GBIF). They had concerns with regard to its interrelationship with other institutions and activities, the costs and the involvement of the developing countries. Initially, at least, the GBIF should focus strongly on accelerating the Global Taxonomy Initiative. Another representative said that, because the uncoordinated development of other institutions in parallel to the clearing-house mechanism led to duplication of efforts, it was necessary to develop the GBIF within the framework of the clearing-house mechanism.

- 48. The representative of GEF drew attention to decision IV/13 of the Conference of the Parties which, inter alia, requested GEF to evaluate, at the end of the pilot phase of the clearing-house mechanism, the experience of GEF support for the developing countries' activities, to consider additional efforts to meet the increasing interest in taking part in, and having access to, the clearing-house mechanism and to report to the Conference of the Parties. Pointing out that a report had been submitted by GEF to the Secretariat and was available to representatives, he noted that many of the issues raised in the discussion were addressed in that report, and he commended it to participants in the preparation of their recommendations on the subject.
- 49. At the 4th plenary session of the meeting, on 2 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body considered a draft recommendation on the item submitted by the Chair.
- 50. Following an extensive exchange of views, the Subsidiary Body agreed that the Chair should prepare a revised draft of the recommendation for submission to a subsequent plenary session.
- 51. During the discussion, one representative suggested that the draft recommendation should include a recommendation to the Conference of the Parties to review the need for the Informal Advisory Committee and to stipulate the length of time that it should remain in existence. Other representatives suggested that the Informal Advisory Committee should cease to exist as it had completed its work. It was agreed that those amendments would not be incorporated in the revised draft recommendation, but would be reflected in the report of the meeting.
- 52. During the discussion, the representative of the Global Environment Facility (GEF) suggested that the draft recommendation should include an acknowledgment of the report submitted by GEF. It was agreed that that addition would not be made to the draft recommendation, but that note would be taken of the GEF report in the report of the meeting.
- 53. At the 5th plenary session of the meeting, on 3 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body considered the revised version of the draft recommendation (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.3) and adopted it as recommendation V/2. The text of the recommendation as adopted, and with an editorial correction agreed to at the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, is contained in annex I to the present report.
- 54. Following the adoption of recommendation V/2, the representative of New Zealand expressed concern that the clearing-house mechanism was being designed in such a way that it would rely on widespread, unfocused distribution of information, rather than focused exchange of advice and assistance; and that the demands of participating in that information process would, for small countries such as her own without access to external funding, represent a drain on the capacity to participate in real facilitation of implementation.

3.3. Review of the Global Taxonomy Initiative

55. The Subsidiary Body took up agenda item 3.3 at the 2nd plenary session of the meeting, on 31 January 2000. In considering the item, the Subsidiary Body had before it a note by the Executive Secretary on the review of the Global Taxonomy Initiative (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/4). Introducing the item, the

representative of the Secretariat said that the note by the Executive Secretary had been prepared in accordance with SBSTTA recommendation IV/2, in order to identify options for a coordination structure for a Global Taxonomy Initiative (GTI) and options for global, regional, subregional and national baseline initiatives in support of the implementation of programmes of work under the thematic areas and cross-cutting issues addressed by the Convention on Biological Diversity. The paper proposed a goal statement for the GTI and mutually reinforcing baseline initiatives that would ensure that the relevant taxonomic information required to meet the objectives of the Convention was available.

- 56. During the discussion of the item, statements were made by the representatives of the following Contracting Parties and countries: Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Ghana, India, Indonesia, Mexico, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Sweden, and Zimbabwe.
- 57. In general, representatives expressed satisfaction with the content of the note by the Executive Secretary, while several representatives suggested that as little new administrative structure as possible should be created for the coordination structure, and the greatest possible use should be made of existing knowledge and research, given that the taxonomic impediment had been evident for a long time and much had already been written about it. Some representatives felt that the coordination structure should contain a greater number of representatives from taxonomic institutions than currently proposed in the document.
- 58. Several representatives also said that that the GTI should not be an end in itself, but should be a demand-driven and output-focused initiative serving the needs of conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity, with the strategic plan for the GTI being incorporated in the strategic plan for the Convention on Biological Diversity as a whole. Several representatives said that it was important to be able to demonstrate early progress towards achieving the objectives of the GTI.
- 59. Some representatives expressed the view that there was a need to set priorities among the many activities contained in the document, and that that should be done in accordance with the level of knowledge held in the various regions. One representative suggested that geographical information should be added to the requirements of the GTI.
- 60. A number of representatives said that taxonomic capacity-building could best be achieved through country-driven projects at the national and regional levels, particularly in the developing countries, where taxonomic work should be undertaken by local institutions rather than by expatriate consultants. One representative suggested that in order to increase the number of taxonomists in the developing countries, the creation of jobs in the field of taxonomy should be given greater emphasis in the GTI.
- 61. One representative called for the issue of taxonomy in relation to genetic resources and intellectual property rights to be addressed by the GTI.
- 62. It was pointed out that while the note by the Executive Secretary suggested that regional meetings should also help develop financial priorities, that was properly the responsibility of the Conference of the Parties.

- 63. At the 5th plenary session of the meeting, on 3 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body considered a draft recommendation on the item submitted by the Chair. Following an exchange of views, the Subsidiary Body agreed that the Chairman should prepare a revised version of the draft recommendation, taking into account the amendments proposed during the discussion, for submission to a subsequent plenary session.
- 64. At the 7th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body took up the revised version of the draft recommendation (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.7) and adopted it, as orally amended, as recommendation V/3. The text of the recommendation as adopted is contained in annex I to the present report.

3.4. <u>Alien species: quiding principles for the prevention, introduction and mitigation of impacts</u>

- 65. Working Group I took up agenda item 3.4 at its 3rd meeting, on 2 February 2000. The Group had before it the note by the Executive Secretary, entitled "Alien species: guiding principles for the prevention, introduction and mitigation of impacts" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/5).
- Introducing the item, the representative of the Secretariat said that the Subsidiary Body, at its fourth meeting, had adopted recommendation IV/4, in which it requested the Executive Secretary to develop, in cooperation with the Global Invasive Species Programme (GISP), principles for the prevention, introduction and mitigation of impacts of alien species, for consideration by the Subsidiary Body at its fifth meeting. In developing the draft guiding principles contained in his note, the Executive Secretary had taken into account the principles presented for debate at the fourth meeting of the Subsidiary Body (UNEP/CBD/SBSSTA/4/Inf.8), as well as the draft IUCN Guidelines for the Prevention of Biological Diversity Loss Due to Biological Invasions. Section I of the note by the Executive Secretary summarized the process that had led to the development of the draft guiding principles. Section II provided examples of the draft principles in action, drawing upon relevant information contained in case-studies received from Parties, as well as on the national reports submitted under Article 26 of the Convention and other sources. Section III contained conclusions on the analysis of the information used. The draft guiding principles were presented in annex I to the document. In addition, the document suggested recommendations that the Subsidiary Body might wish to consider in formulating its recommendations to the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting.
- 67. During the discussion on the item, statements were made by the representatives of the following Parties and countries: Argentina, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Chad, Colombia, Cook Islands, Côte d'Ivoire, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Eritrea, European Community, Finland, France, Gambia, Germany, Honduras, Hungary, Ireland, Italy, Kenya, Malawi, Mexico, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Peru, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Russian Federation, Senegal, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey, Uganda, United Republic of Tanzania, United States of America, Venezuela, Zimbabwe. Statements were also made by the representatives of FAO, UNDP-GEF, UNESCO, and the Secretariat of the Barcelona Convention for the Protection of the Mediterranean Sea against Pollution and its Protocols. Statements were also made by representatives of the Commonwealth Secretariat and of the International Centre of Insect Physiology and Ecology (ICIPE).

- 68. At its 4th meeting, on 3 February 2000, the Working Group considered a draft recommendation on the item, submitted by the Chair. After an exchange of views, the Working Group agreed to transmit the draft recommendation, as orally amended, to the plenary (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.6).
- 69. At the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body took up draft recommendation UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.6 and adopted it, as orally amended, as recommendation V/4. The text of the recommendation as adopted is contained in annex I to the present report.
- 70. The representative of the European Community, supported by the representatives of Brazil, Norway and Seychelles, said that the recommendation should acknowledge that work on alien species should also include work on subspecies and varieties.

3.5. Specific issues in ongoing work programmes on thematic areas

3.5.1. <u>Inland waters biological diversity</u>

- 71. The Subsidiary Body took up agenda item 3.5.1 at the 2nd plenary session of the meeting, on 31 January 2000. In considering the item, the Subsidiary Body had before it a note by the Executive Secretary on ways and means to implement the programme of work on inland waters biological diversity (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/6). Introducing the item, the representative of the Secretariat said that the document reviewed the activities of a number of countries which contributed to the implementation of that programme of work, and also described how the Secretariat of the Convention had begun to implement the programme of work essentially through collaborative activities and joint work plans.
- 72. During the discussion of the item, statements were made by the representatives of the following Contracting Parties and countries: Cameroon, Canada, Costa Rica, Ecuador, European Community, Finland, France, Hungary, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Kenya, Netherlands, Portugal, Slovenia and United States of America. The representative of the Global Environment Center also made a statement.
- 73. One representative commended in particular the brevity and the clarity of its summary, saying that it should act as a model for similar papers on biodiversity-related issues. However, another representative noted that while progress was evidently being made, its pace appeared to be constrained by the pace of input from the Parties. One representative pointed out that the programme of work did not make any reference to the topic of education and awareness-raising, nor to that of equitable distribution of the benefits derived from the sustainable use of wetlands.
- 74. Several representatives urged that the Convention on Biological Diversity, as the unifying framework for inland waters biodiversity, should continue and intensify the cooperation already begun with the Convention on Wetlands, under the joint work plan. A number of representatives noted that the inventories prepared under that Convention could also be useful for the Convention on Biological Diversity, and that cooperation could reduce overlap and duplication of effort.
- 75. A number or representatives also urged that cooperation should be pursued with FAO in the context of the Code of Conduct for Responsible

Fisheries, with the International Center for Living Aquatic Resources Management (ICLARM), with the Commission on Sustainable Development and with similar bodies active in the area of inland waters biodiversity. One representative said that closer cooperation should also be undertaken with non-governmental organizations and academic institutions, who had much knowledge to offer on the topic.

- 76. Noting that there was a need to make use of existing information and experts, one representative said that collaboration with other bodies should address the question of gaps in knowledge at the national and regional level.
- 77. One representative listed a number of other international initiatives being undertaken which were of relevance to the programme of work on inland waters biodiversity: the Global Action Plan for Peatlands endorsed at the seventh Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Wetlands; the Global International Waters Assessment, being coordinated by UNEP; an assessment of global freshwater ecosystems being developed by the World Resources Institute as part of a larger pilot analysis of global ecosystems; and a draft water policy and strategy prepared by UNEP.
- 78. One representative described the joint project with the Convention on Wetlands to develop a River Basin Initiative, the aim of which was to establish a network for the sharing of information on river basin management. It was intended to launch the Initiative formally at the fifth meeting of the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity.
- 79. One representative referred to the World Water Forum to be held the following March in the Netherlands, which would draw attention to the need to achieve sustainable use of global water resources, with particular emphasis on the sound management of water ecosystems.
- 80. One representative raised the issue of declining population levels of amphibians. His Government had established a task force on the issue, and was interested in cooperating with other countries on it. The same representative recalled that his country had learned the lesson of failing to incorporate inland waters biodiversity into development plans and was now spending billions of dollars to correct the resultant damage.
- 81. One representative referred to the need to strengthen regional capacity in wetlands management, for example through bodies such as the Lake Chad Basin Commission.
- 82. One representative, while supporting the use of the clearing-house mechanism as a means of disseminating information on inland waters biodiversity matters, pointed out that there were some countries which did not have access to it.
- 83. One representative noted that when the bodies of inland water were transboundary rivers, particular problems arose relating to pollution and equitable sharing.
- 84. One representative said that biodiversity was the best indicator of water quality and quantity. Noting that, traditionally, fishing and other uses of water had been developed in a sustainable way by people living around bodies of water, he described the research of his organization into those phenomena.

- 85. At the 5th plenary session of the meeting, on 3 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body considered a draft recommendation on the item submitted by the Chair. Following an exchange of views, the Subsidiary Body agreed that the Chairman should prepare a revised version of the draft recommendation, taking into account the amendments proposed during the discussion, for submission to a subsequent plenary session.
- 86. At the 7th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body took up the revised draft recommendation (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.8) and adopted it as recommendation V/5. The text of the recommendation as adopted is contained in annex I to the present report.
 - 3.5.2. <u>Marine and coastal biological diversity: consideration of implementation tools for the programme of work, and analysis of coral bleaching.</u>
- 87. Working Group I took up agenda item 3.5.2 at its 2nd meeting, on 2 February 2000. The Group had before it a note by the Executive Secretary, entitled "Marine and coastal biological diversity: implementation tools for the programme of work and analysis of coral bleaching" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/7). It also had before it an information document containing the report of the Expert Consultation on Coral Bleaching, held in Manila in October 1999 (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/11).
- 88. Introducing the item, the representative of the Secretariat said that section I of the note by the Executive Secretary described the tools used for the implementation of the programme of work on the conservation and sustainable use of marine and coastal biological diversity at the international level and, in its annex I, summarized the uses of the tools, their efficiency, success criteria and/or limitations, emerging or expected results and the lessons learned from their use.
- 89. Concerning coral bleaching, the Conference of the Parties in its decision IV/5, section II, had requested the Subsidiary Body to carry out an analysis of the phenomenon and to report to the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting. An Expert Consultation on Coral Bleaching had been held in Manila from 11 to 13 October 1999, to identify the main scientific, technical and technological aspects of the problem. Using inputs from that meeting, and in response to decision IV/5, an analysis of the phenomenon of coral bleaching had been prepared and was contained in section II of the note by the Executive Secretary. The document also contained suggested recommendations that the Subsidiary Body might wish to consider in formulating its recommendation to the fifth meeting of the Conference of the Parties.
- 90. During the discussion, statements were made by the representatives of the following Contracting Parties and countries: Antigua and Barbuda, Australia, Bangladesh, Canada, China, Cook Islands, Dominican Republic, France, Gambia, Germany, Honduras, Indonesia, Jamaica, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Philippines, Senegal, Seychelles, Slovenia, Sweden, Tanzania, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America. Statements were also made by the representatives of WMO, UNESCO and the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands.
- 91. At its 5th meeting, on 3 February 2000, the Working Group agreed to establish an informal contact group, with a mandate to hold consultations and to prepare a draft recommendation on the item, based on the proposed

recommendation contained in the note by the Executive Secretary (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/7) and taking fully into account the comments and proposals made during the discussion in the Working Group.

- 92. Subsequently, also at the 5th meeting, the coordinator of the contact group reported back to the Working Group and submitted for its consideration an informal draft recommendation.
- 93. The Working Group agreed to reflect in its report the fact that one representative wished the draft recommendation, in its paragraph 5, to contain a reference to the encouraging of cooperation between States and international bodies.
- 94. After an exchange of views, the Working Group agreed to transmit the draft recommendation, as orally amended, to the plenary (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.13).
- 95. At the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body took up draft recommendation UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.13 and adopted it, as orally amended, as recommendation V/6. The text of the recommendation as adopted is contained in annex I to the present report.
- 96. The representative of Sweden wished to put on record the view that the recommendation should invite other relevant international organizations, in particular the Global Inland Waters Assessment, to collaborate in the assessment of marine and coastal biological diversity.

3.5.3. Forest biodiversity

- 97. The Subsidiary Body took up agenda item 3.5.3 at the 2nd plenary session of the meeting, on 31 January 2000. In considering the item, the Subsidiary Body had before it a note by the Executive Secretary entitled "Forest biological diversity: status and trends and identification of options for conservation and sustainable use" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/8). Introducing the item, the representative of the Secretariat said that the note by the Executive Director had been drawn up in response to both paragraph 12 of decision IV/7 of the Conference of the Parties and paragraph 4 of SBSTTA recommendation IV/1 A , and that it contained a progress report on the work programme for forest biological diversity and a preliminary assessment of the status and trends and identification of options for the conservation and sustainable use of forest biological diversity.
- 98. During the discussion of the item, statements were made by the representatives of the following Contracting Parties and countries: Argentina, Bangladesh, Brazil, Burkina Faso, Ecuador, Finland, Haiti, India, Indonesia, Japan, Mali, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland, Turkey and United States of America.
- 99. One representative expressed pleasure at the rate of progress made in the implementation of the work programme, considering that if the same rate were to be maintained, then the biodiversity of the remaining forests of the world could be saved. By contrast, several others expressed serious concern at the slow rate of progress, noting that while the work programme had been adopted by the Conference of the Parties at its fourth meeting, some 18 months previously, there were almost no joint activities in place between the Convention on Biological Diversity and other bodies concerned with forests.

- 100. Others recalled that the Intergovernmental Forum on Forests was meeting at the same time as the current SBSTTA meeting, suggesting that cooperation with that body should be enhanced and accelerated as soon as the two meetings were over.
- 101. Many representatives supported the formation of an ad hoc group of technical experts, several suggesting that they should work closely with other bodies concerned with forests, and not duplicate work already done. One representative suggested that such a group should undertake gap analysis of the work done in other forestry-related forums and identify where the Convention on Biological Diversity could contribute to the work of other organizations in relation to the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity.
- 102. One representative expressed the view that the experts in the <u>ad hoc</u> group should be appointed by Governments. Another said that the experts should represent all of the world's forest ecosystems, from boreal through temperate to tropical, and that it was important to maintain the right balance between conservation on the one hand and sustainable management practice and use of biological diversity on the other. There was a need for taxonomic work since much of forest biodiversity was only poorly known.
- 103. A number of representatives felt that insufficient attention was paid in the note by the Executive Secretary to the value of planted forests for the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity, since if demand for timber could be diverted to planted forests, then the pressure on old-growth forests would be lessened, and the loss of forest biodiversity reduced.
- 104. A number of representatives suggested that equal importance should be attached to forest ecosystems inside and outside protected areas, since forest biodiversity could not be preserved by concentrating solely on either one of the types of area. One representative said that while indicators for forest biodiversity were doubtlessly desirable, they should be used as a national benchmark tool rather than an international performance appraisal instrument.
- 105. Some representatives suggested that the note by the Executive Secretary also paid insufficient attention to the causes of deforestation, with one representative stressing the importance of poverty as a factor in the loss of forest biodiversity. If such causes were better understood, then forestry policies friendly to biodiversity could be implemented. It was also suggested that a moratorium should be introduced on clear-cutting in natural forests; that mining and similar operations should be discouraged in biodiversity-rich forests; and that suitable schemes should be put in place to promote mixed culture in afforestation.
- 106. At the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body considered a draft recommendation on the item submitted by the Chair. After an exchange of views, the draft recommendation, as orally amended, was adopted as recommendation V/7. The text of the recommendation as adopted is contained in annex I to the present report.

AGENDA ITEM 4: PRIORITY ISSUES

4.1. Thematic areas

4.1.1. <u>Programme of work for dryland, mediterranean, arid, semi-arid, grassland and savannah biological diversity</u>

- 107. Working Group I took up agenda item 4.1.1 at its 1st meeting, on 1 February 2000. The Group had before it a note by the Executive Secretary entitled "Biological diversity of dryland, Mediterranean, arid, semi-arid, grassland and savannah ecosystems: options for the development of a programme of work" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/9 and Corr.1).
- 108. Introducing the debate on the item, the representative of the Secretariat said that in annex II of its decision IV/16, the Conference of the Parties had designated dryland, Mediterranean, arid, semi-arid, grassland and savannah ecosystems as one of the matters requiring in-depth consideration at its fifth meeting. In its recommendation IV/3, the Subsidiary Body had requested the Executive Secretary to prepare, in consultation with the Secretariat of the Convention to Combat Desertification, a draft programme of work on those ecosystems. Recommendation IV/3 also requested the Executive Secretary to propose a shorter name for the title of the work programme that would cover all the types of the referent ecosystems. The Executive Secretary had used the output of a meeting of a liaison group to prepare the draft programme of work contained in his note, which also included suggested recommendations. The representative of the Secretariat made an oral editorial correction that document.
- 109. During the discussion of the item, statements were made by the representatives of the following Parties and countries: Algeria, Argentina, Australia, Belgium, Brazil, Burkina Faso, Burundi, Canada, China, Colombia, Ethiopia, European Community, France, Germany, Greece, Italy, Japan, Jordan, Kenya, Mali, Netherlands, Norway, Portugal, Russian Federation, Switzerland, Tanzania, Turkey, Uganda, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America, Zimbabwe. Statements were also made by the representatives of the Secretariat of the Convention to Combat Desertification and of the World Meteorological Organization.
- 110. At its 4th meeting, on 3 February 2000, the Working Group considered a draft recommendation on the item, submitted by the Chair. After an exchange of views, the Working Group agreed to transmit the draft recommendation, as orally amended, to the plenary (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.4).
- 111. At the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body took up draft recommendation UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.4 and adopted it as recommendation V/8. The text of the recommendation as adopted is contained in annex I to the present report.

4.1.2. <u>Agricultural biological diversity: assessment of ongoing activities and priorities for a programme of work</u>

112. Working Group I took up agenda item 4.1.2 at its 2nd meeting, on 1 February 2000. The Group had before it a note by the Executive Secretary, entitled "Agricultural biodiversity: assessment of ongoing activities and priorities for a programme of work" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/10). It also had before

it an information document containing the full text of the assessment (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/10).

- Introducing the debate on the item, the representative of the Secretariat said that the Conference of the Parties at its third meeting had adopted decision III/11 which, inter alia, established a multi-year programme of work for activities on agricultural biological diversity. At its fourth meeting, the Conference of the Parties has adopted decision IV/16 which, inter alia, requested that the Subsidiary Body develop, and provide to the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting, advice and a recommendation for the development of the programme of work. The note by the Executive Secretary under the item, which had been prepared jointly with FAO with the assistance of a liaison group, proposed four main elements on which to build a programme of work. The proposals in no way represented an intention to replace decision III/11 but, rather, endeavoured to facilitate its implementation. The document also set out suggested recommendations. The Secretariat also drew attention to the availability of a number of other relevant background documents, in particular, the report of the 1998 Sao Paulo Workshop on the Conservation and Sustainable Use of Pollinators in Agriculture with an Emphasis on Bees.
- 114. During the discussion of the item, statements were made by the representatives of the following Parties and countries: Algeria, Argentina, Australia, Bangladesh, Brazil, Burkina Faso, Canada, Colombia, European Community, Finland, France, Germany, Indonesia, Italy, Japan, Mali, Morocco, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Papua New Guinea, Poland, Russian Federation, Sri Lanka, Sweden, Switzerland, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America, Venezuela, Zimbabwe.
- 115. At its 5th meeting, on 3 February 2000, the Working Group considered a draft recommendation on the item, submitted by the Chair. After an exchange of views, the Working Group agreed to transmit the draft recommendation, as orally amended, to the plenary (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.12).
- 116. At the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body took up draft recommendation UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.12 and adopted it as recommendation V/9. The text of the recommendation as adopted is contained in annex I to the present report.

4.2. <u>Cross-cutting issues</u>

4.2.1. Ecosystem approach: further conceptual elaboration

- 117. Prior to the discussion on item 4.2.1 in Working Group II, the Subsidiary Body, at the 3rd plenary session of the meeting, on 1 February 2000, heard a keynote address by a distinguished expert in the field, Professor Daniel H. Janzen, Professor of Biology at the University of Pennsylvania and technical advisor to the Guanacaste Conservation Area of Costa Rica.
- 118. Following the presentation, for which the Subsidiary Body expressed broad appreciation, questions were asked by the representatives of Chad and Syrian Arab Republic.

- 119. Working Group II took up item 4.2.1 at its 1st meeting, on 1 February 2000. The Group had before it a note from the Executive Secretary entitled "Ecosystem approach: further conceptual elaboration" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/11).
- 120. Introducing the item, the representative of the Secretariat recalled that, as decided by the Conference of the Parties, the ecosystem approach was the primary framework for action under the Convention. The document had been prepared to assist SBSTTA in developing principles and other guidance on the ecosystem approach, as requested by the Conference of the Parties at its fourth meeting. The document built upon the Malawi principles, developed at the Workshop on the Ecosystem Approach held in Lilongwe in January 1998, as well as the experiences and conclusions of a number of other workshops and initiatives that had been organized on the matter in recent years.
- 121. In the discussion of the item, statements were made by the representatives of the following Parties and countries: Australia, Bolivia, Brazil, Canada, China, Colombia, Costa Rica, Czech Republic, Ecuador, Eritrea, European Community, Finland, Germany, Ghana, India, Indonesia, Italy, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Peru, Poland, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Seychelles, Sweden, Togo, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America, Zambia, Zimbabwe.
- 122. A statement was also made by the representative of UNESCO. Statements were also made by the representatives of the Commonwealth Secretariat and the World Resources Institute.
- 123. At its 4th and 5th meetings, on 3 February 2000, the Group considered a draft recommendation on the item submitted by the Chair. Following an exchange of views involving several representatives, the Working Group approved the draft recommendation, as orally amended, for transmission to plenary (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.11).
- 124. During the discussion, a small number of representatives expressed an understanding of the ecosystem approach which differed from the description given in the annex to the draft recommendation, and requested that their view be reflected in the report of the meeting.
- 125. At the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body took up draft recommendation UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.11. Following an extensive discussion, the Subsidiary Body agreed to establish an informal open-ended contact group to resolve outstanding drafting issues.
- 126. At the 7th plenary session, also on 4 February 2000, the Chair submitted to the group a consensus text for the last sentence of the rationale for principle 1, the remaining outstanding drafting issue. The draft recommendation, as orally amended, was adopted as recommendation V/10. The text of the recommendation as adopted is contained in annex I to the present report.
- 127. During the consideration of the draft recommendation, the representative of Ecuador stated for the record that his delegation did not agree with the change of the words "fair and equitable sharing" to "fair and equitable access" in the title of section C 2 of the annex to the recommendation.
- 128. The representative of the Russian Federation said the text should speak of "management principles" and not just "principles" of the ecosystem

approach, as the principles set out were not scientific but socio-economic in nature.

4.2.2. Development of indicators of biological diversity

- 129. Working Group II took up item 4.2.2 at its 2nd meeting, on 1 February 2000. The Group had before it a note from the Executive Secretary entitled "Development of indicators of biological diversity" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/12).
- 130. Introducing the item, the representative of the Secretariat recalled that in response to recommendation III/5 of SBSTTA and decision IV/1 A of the Conference of the Parties, requesting the Executive Secretary to initiate a two-track work programme on biodiversity indicators, the Executive Secretary, with the assistance of a liaison group of experts on indicators, was proposing in his note a core set of generic indicators, based on the pressure, state and response framework, intended to assist Parties and other Governments to design, initiate and/or improve their national monitoring programmes.
- 131. The document emphasized that the indicators would serve as a tool for adequate management of biological diversity at local and national levels, for regional and global overviews of the status and trends of components of biodiversity, in the context of the ecosystem approach and the three objectives of the Convention. They might also have a wider role, for example in increasing public awareness to facilitate the implementation of national monitoring programmes. The level of sophistication of indicator variables to be included in the monitoring programmes would depend on data availability in each country and on the specific sectors being monitored.
- 132. The core set of indicators in the document was designed to be applied immediately. Several existing data sets could be used for a number of indicators. Although the indicators were most valuable when used as a set, individual indicators would also contribute towards a better understanding of biodiversity status and trends.
- 133. In the discussion of the item, statements were made by the representatives of the following Parties and countries: Australia, Canada, Costa Rica, Côte d'Ivoire, Cuba, Dominican Republic, Ecuador, Finland, France, Germany, Haiti, India, Iran (Islamic Republic of), Japan, Namibia, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Peru, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Seychelles, Sweden, Switzerland, Togo, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States of America, Zimbabwe. A statement was also made by the representative of IUCN.
- 134. At its 4th meeting on 3 February 2000, the Group considered a draft recommendation on the item submitted by the Chair. Following an exchange of views involving several representatives, the Working Group approved the draft recommendation, as orally amended, for transmission to plenary (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.5).
- 135. Some representatives said that further consideration was required on the question of costs.
- 136. At the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body took up draft recommendation UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.5 and adopted it, as orally amended, as recommendation V/11. The text of the recommendation as adopted is contained in annex I to the present report.

- 4.2.3. <u>Sustainable use of the components of biological diversity:</u>
 identification of sectoral activities that could adopt
 biodiversity-friendly practices and technologies
- 137. Prior to the discussion on item 4.2.3, the Subsidiary Body, in Working Group I at the 3rd plenary session of the meeting, on 1 February 2000, heard a keynote address by a distinguished expert in the field, Professor Karimou Jean-Marie Ambouta, Professor of Soil Management and Dean of the Faculty of Agronomy of the University of Niamey, and Chair of the IUCN Expert Group on the Sustainable Use of Wild Species in Western Africa and of the IUCN National Network of Wetlands of Niger.
- 138. Following the presentation, for which the Subsidiary Body expressed broad appreciation, questions were asked by the representatives of Cameroon and Togo.
- 139. Working Group II took up item 4.2.3 at its 3rd meeting, on 2 February 2000. The Group had before it a note by the Executive Secretary entitled "Sustainable use of the components of biological diversity: identification of sectoral activities that could adopt biodiversity-friendly practices and technologies" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/13).
- Introducing the item, the representative of the Secretariat recalled that, as provided for in its programme of work (decision IV/16, annex II), the Conference of the Parties would consider sustainable use, including tourism, as one of the three themes for in-depth discussion at its fifth meeting. The concept of sustainable use was an integral part of many of the thematic areas of the Convention on Biological Diversity. SBSTTA had considered the issue of tourism at its fourth meeting, and the current meeting was to consider areas other than tourism. He explained that the note by the Executive Secretary prepared under the item described the concept of sustainable use in the context of the objectives, definitions and other provisions of the Convention (section II), reviewed the development of the concept by the Conference of the Parties (section III) and discussed the question of identifying sectoral biodiversity-friendly practices and technologies (section IV). In general, the document proposed ways in which Parties might integrate the sustainableuse concept into their national biodiversity strategies and action plans and into ongoing biodiversity programmes.
- 141. In the discussion of the item, statements were made by the representatives of the following Parties and countries: Armenia, Australia, Brazil, Canada, Colombia, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, El Salvador, European Community, Guinea, Guyana, Indonesia, Madagascar, Namibia, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nigeria, Norway, Peru, Portugal, Republic of Korea, Romania, Russian Federation, Sri Lanka, Switzerland, Togo, Tonga, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, Zambia, Zimbabwe.
- 142. At its 5th meeting on 3 February 2000, the Group considered a draft recommendation on the item submitted by the Chair. Following an exchange of views, the Working Group approved the draft recommendation, as orally amended, for transmission to plenary (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.10).

- 143. One representative said that the draft recommendation did not make adequate provision for involvement of the private sector in the sustainable use of biodiversity.
- 144. At the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body took up draft recommendation UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.10 and adopted it as recommendation V/12. The text of the recommendation as adopted is contained in annex I to the present report.

4.3. <u>Mechanisms for implementation</u>

4.3.1. <u>Guidelines for the second national reports</u>

- 145. The Subsidiary Body took up agenda item 4.3.1 at the 2nd plenary session of the meeting, on 31 January 2000. In considering the item, the Subsidiary Body had before it a note by the Executive Secretary on establishment of guidelines for the second national reports, including indicators and incentive measures (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/14). The Subsidiary Body also had before it information documents entitled "Synthesis of information contained in the first national reports and status of reports submitted" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/6), "Assessing the state of implementation of the Convention on Biological Diversity: report of a project to develop and test a mechanism for preliminary assessment" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/7), "Feasibility study for a harmonized information-management infrastructure for biodiversityrelated conventions" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/8), and "An interim assessment of biodiversity enabling activities: national biodiversity strategies and action plans: a study for the Global Environment Facility" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/9). Introducing the item, the representative of the Secretariat drew the attention of the Subsidiary Body to the documentation circulated under the item, which had been prepared to assist SBSTTA in providing advice to the Conference of the Parties on the intervals and forms of future national reports.
- 146. During the discussion of the item, statements were made by the representatives of the following Contracting Parties and countries: Brazil, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Canada, China, Colombia, Cuba, European Union, Finland, France, Germany, Haiti, India, Ireland, Japan, Kenya, Morocco, Netherlands, New Zealand, Norway, Portugal, Russian Federation, Seychelles, Slovenia, Sweden, Switzerland, Tunisia, Uganda, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland. A statement was also made by the United Nations Environment Programme. A statement was also made by Birdlife International.
- 147. A number of representatives laid stress on the importance of national reports, both as a means for the Conference of the Parties to measure progress towards implementation of the Convention and as a means for countries to monitor their own progress. One representative emphasized that the reporting process was not intended to rank countries according to their progress in implementing the Convention. It was essential that such progress should be assessed in the context of each Party's priorities and capacities.
- 148. Most representatives who spoke supported the idea of a four-yearly cycle for the reports, which would provide adequate information without being too burdensome on Parties. Several also suggested that it would be useful to have more frequent reports on specific topics, in particular those to be considered in depth at the meetings of the Conference of the Parties. A small number of representatives favoured a two-yearly reporting cycle.

- 149. Several representatives said that they found the standardized matrix contained in annex I of the note by the Executive Secretary to be helpful. Some representatives suggested that it needed further refinement, while one suggested that it should be regarded as dynamic, to be revised in the light of experience.
- 150. One representative said that while the guidelines were a sound basis, they still required further refinement to improve their clarity, to ensure that all possible answers to the questions were available as options, and to ensure that all countries would apply the same interpretation to the questions.
- 151. One representative said that it was important that the national reporting process, as well as tracking implementation, should also identify needs as guidance for the future work of the Convention, expressing the view that the questionnaire should be revised to address this objective.
- 152. One representative said that it was important to incorporate biodiversity indicators into the reporting process in order to demonstrate progress towards targets. Others stated they were awaiting the outcome of the consideration of indicators under item 4.2.2 of the agenda.
- 153. Several representatives stressed the need for broad participation and stakeholder participation in reporting procedures.
- 154. One representative cautioned against establishing requirements for reporting which some Parties would be unable to fulfil. He also said that while it was useful to examine streamlining and harmonizing of the process of reporting to the biodiversity-related conventions, it would not be helpful to small developing countries if several reports were required simultaneously.
- 155. A number of representatives suggested that the Conference of the Parties should recognize the importance of the clearing-house mechanism and should use it to provide appropriate linkages between different reporting requirements of biodiversity-related conventions and agreements.
- 156. Some representatives suggested a trial period of continuous reporting, with participating countries updating their country reports whenever it seemed necessary.
- 157. Several representatives of African Parties said that there was a need for capacity-building in reporting and managing information, which might require financial assistance from the Global Environment Facility.
- 158. The representative of UNEP reported on a project of assistance to six countries of the Central and Eastern European and the Central Asian region, and suggested that Parties might wish to use the assessment reports from the project as an input to their own second national reports to the Conference of the Parties.
- 159. At the 5th plenary session of the meeting, on 3 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body considered a draft recommendation on the item submitted by the Chair.
- 160. The Subsidiary Body agreed that its report would reflect the fact that one representative had wished to insert language at the end of paragraph 4 (c)

of the draft recommendation, to the effect that the proposals should outline the relationship among the three types of reporting: reporting based on the matrix; thematic reporting; and harmonized reporting. Another representative stressed that the intention was not to have three different reports.

- 161. Following an exchange of views, the Subsidiary Body agreed that the Chairman should prepare a revised version of the draft recommendation, taking into account the amendments proposed during the discussion, for submission to a subsequent plenary session.
- 162. At the 7th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body took up the revised draft recommendation (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.9) and adopted it as recommendation V/13. The text of the recommendation as adopted is contained in annex I to the present report.

4.3.2. Ad hoc technical expert groups: terms of reference, and rosters of experts and proposal on a uniform methodology for their use

- 163. The Subsidiary Body took up agenda item 4.3.2 at the 4th plenary session of the meeting, on 2 February 2000. In considering the item, the Subsidiary Body had before it a note by the Executive Secretary entitled "Ad hoc technical expert groups: terms of reference, and roster of experts and proposal on a uniform methodology for their use" (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/15).
- 164. Introducing the item, the representative of the Secretariat said that, with regard to the terms of reference of ad hoc technical expert groups, the Conference of the Parties, in its decision IV/16, requested the Subsidiary Body to advise the fifth meeting of the Conference of the Parties. At its fourth meeting, the Subsidiary Body had deferred the matter to its fifth meeting. The note by the Executive Secretary proposed some terms of reference for the ad hoc technical expert groups based on decision IV/5 for marine and coastal protected areas and for mariculture, and set out a proposed uniform methodology for the use of rosters of experts. The note also set out suggested recommendations for the consideration of the Subsidiary Body.
- 165. During the discussion on the item, statements were made by the following Contracting Parties and countries: Armenia, Australia, Burkina Faso, Cameroon, Canada, Chad, China, Democratic Republic of the Congo, Ecuador, Finland, Germany, Haiti, Japan, Kenya, Namibia, Netherlands, New Zealand, Nigeria, Norway, Sweden, Switzerland, Syrian Arab Republic, United Kingdom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United Republic of Tanzania, United States of America.
- 166. A statement was also made by a representative of a non-governmental organization, speaking on behalf of Greenpeace International, Biodiversity Action Network and Birdlife International.
- 167. Many representatives welcomed the proposed uniform methodology for the use of rosters of experts, as set out in annex III to the note of the Executive Secretary, although several pointed to the lack of a similar methodology for the use of expert groups and liaison groups. Some representatives believed that the Executive Secretary should prepare such guidelines in time for the fifth meeting of the Conference of the Parties, to accompany the terms of reference of specific groups.

- 168. Another representative drew attention to the recommendation of the Inter-Sessional Meeting on the Operations of the Convention whereby, to the extent possible, decisions of the Conference of the Parties should identify expected outcomes, activities to achieve those outcomes, those to whom decisions were directed, and timetables for action and follow-up. It was noted that a similar rigour should be applied to the terms of reference of the expert groups.
- 169. A number of representatives considered that the nomination of experts for the rosters should be made in a transparent way, with the approval of the Parties to the Convention, and through their national focal points, which would also update the rosters. In addition, the rosters should be open-ended and, when experts were recruited from them, the national focal points should be informed. Some representatives said that nomination should be valid only for the specific task at hand and only until that task was completed. Experts chosen for one group needed to be clear that they would not be automatically invited to join another group nor necessarily be put onto a roster. Another representative sought clarification of the term "relevant bodies", as used by the Secretariat in the proposed uniform methodology.
- 170. Several representatives, pointing to the range of groups and mechanisms at the disposal of the Convention to develop advice, said it was vital to ensure that the most cost-effective mechanism was used. Several other representatives considered that expert groups should be used only when a significant assessment was needed and when the mechanism to ensure scientific credibility had been fully developed. One representative considered that the establishment of expert groups and their terms of reference had to be considered in context with the development of an assessment mechanism for the Convention.
- 171. One representative proposed that rosters of experts should be established for a number of additional relevant thematic areas. Several representatives believed that the composition of the expert groups needed to take into account gender balance in order to reflect gender-based differences in knowledge about the implementation of the Convention. Several representatives also called for regional balance in the composition of the groups. Another representative proposed the creation of a thematic expert group on benefit-sharing, to access information available in a country, identify needs and difficulties, and receive input from all other thematic groups. Several representatives stressed the need to encourage use of local expertise and ensure appropriate indigenous representation. One representative said there was a need for procedures that also took into account the limited capacities of small island developing States to field expertise on various fronts.
- 172. Several representatives, noting the proposal that the roster of experts should be accessible through the clearing-house mechanism, stressed the need also to provide hard-copy documentation to communicate the roster to countries without electronic access to the clearing-house mechanism.
- 173. Several other representatives underlined the need for an expert group to undertake regular reporting to the Parties and for efficient mechanisms to allow the Parties to contribute case-studies and information on the research and monitoring they were pursuing.

- 174. Many representatives expressed support for the proposed terms of reference and duration of work of the ad hoc technical expert groups on mariculture and on marine and coastal protected areas, as set out in annex IV of the note of the Executive Secretary. Proposed amendments concerning the ad hoc group on marine and coastal protected areas included: the group should not seek to develop projects itself; it should have a narrow focus; it should coordinate work with other relevant bodies; it should provide regular progress reports and develop mechanisms for interaction with Parties.
- 175. A number of representatives supported the establishment of an ad hoc technical working group on forest biodiversity, provided that its terms of reference were made more focused and precise, and that they reflected the needs identified in the debate on forest biological diversity and in the note by the Executive Secretary before the current meeting. Some representatives made specific proposals as to the mandate of the group. Some representatives noted that such a group would need to work closely with the Intergovernmental Forum on Forests. Others considered that the establishment of such a group should be postponed until it was certain how it would operate.
- 176. Some representatives supported the establishment of an ad hoc technical expert group on inland waters biodiversity. A number of other representatives considered that it was not necessary to establish such an expert group, since the issues were sufficiently dealt with by the joint work plan with the Convention on Wetlands.
- 177. Several representatives proposed a change in the <u>modus operandi</u> of the Subsidiary Body to enable it to decide on the establishment of ad hoc technical expert groups, including the terms of reference, under the general budget of the Conference of the Parties.
- 178. One representative suggested that the reference to the Informal Advisory Committee should be deleted.
- 179. At the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body considered a draft recommendation on the item submitted by the Chair. After an exchange of views, the draft recommendation, as orally amended, was adopted as recommendation V/14.
- 180. The representative of France, while declaring himself prepared to adopt the draft recommendation in English, expressed regret that the document was not available in the other official languages of the United Nations and reserved his position as to the translation of the document into French.
- 181. The representative of New Zealand said that her delegation had not had time to study in detail the terms of reference of the ad hoc technical expert group on forest biological diversity contained in the annex to the recommendation, and did not wish the adoption of recommendation V/14 to be interpreted as an endorsement of them. The representative of the United States of America expressed support for the position of New Zealand.
 - AGENDA ITEM 5: DRAFT PROVISIONAL AGENDA FOR THE SIXTH MEETING OF THE SUBSIDIARY BODY ON SCIENTIFIC, TECHNICAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE
- 182. , The Subsidiary Body considered agenda item 5 at the 7th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000. Introducing the note prepared by

Page 32

the Executive Secretary on the subject (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/16), the representative of the Secretariat said that the draft provisional agendas contained therein (see annexes II and III below) also took into account the advice of the Bureau of the Subsidiary Body and tried to strike a balance in distributing the work between the two meetings of the Subsidiary Body that were scheduled to take place between the fifth and sixth meetings of the Conference of the Parties.

- 183. The Subsidiary Body took note of the proposal made by one representative to the effect that the issue of reports from regional group meetings should be included in the provisional agenda of the sixth meeting.
- 184. It also took note of the explanation that the provisional agenda could be subject to further modification, in light of the outcome of the fifth meeting of the Conference of the Parties, and that the Bureau needed to be given appropriate flexibility in that respect. In that connection, the Subsidiary Body noted the statement by one representative that the Bureau should be encouraged to concentrate on setting a strong and focused agenda for the Subsidiary Body.
- 185. The Subsidiary Body approved the draft provisional agenda for its sixth meeting, as contained in annex II below.
 - AGENDA ITEM 6: DATES AND VENUE OF THE SIXTH MEETING OF THE SUBSIDIARY BODY ON SCIENTIFIC, TECHNICAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE
- 186. The Subsidiary Body considered the agenda item 6 atthe 7th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, on the basis of the proposal contained in the annotated provisional agenda of the meeting (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/1/Add.1, paras. 52 and 53).
- 187. Statements were made by two representatives, noting the need for the meeting to be late enough in the year for it to receive important inputs from other biodiversity-related activities and also the desirability of avoiding the peak holiday season of many southern-hemisphere countries.
- 188. Following those explanations, the Subsidiary Body agreed that its sixth meeting would be held in Montreal during the period February/March 2001.

AGENDA ITEM 7: OTHER MATTERS

<u>Statement on behalf of the Indigenous Caucus and the Indigenous Peoples' Biodiversity Network (IPBN)</u>

189. At the 6th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, the Subsidiary Body heard a statement was made by the representative of a non-governmental organization, speaking on behalf of the Indigenous Caucus and the Indigenous Peoples' Biodiversity Network. Noting that the first meeting of the Ad Hoc Open-ended Inter-Sessional Working Group on Article 8(j) under the Convention on Biological Diversity was to be held shortly, he reminded the Subsidiary Body that full and effective participation of indigenous peoples was not possible without implementation of the principles contained in decision IV/9 of the Conference of the Parties, particularly paragraph 3, which encouraged Parties to include indigenous and local community representatives in their national delegations, and paragraph 12, which

requested that active indigenous participation be supported logistically and financially.

190. He noted with concern that guidelines, protocols and principles on the use of traditional and indigenous knowledge had been developed and promoted at the current meeting without the direct participation of indigenous peoples, contrary to the sprit of Article 8(j). However, he expressed appreciation for the inclusion of indigenous representatives in the deliberations of the Informal Advisory Committee on the clearing-house mechanism, describing it as a model for their inclusion in other expert bodies and deliberative organs of the Convention on Biological Diversity. He called on the Parties to establish and support an indigenous focal point within the clearing-house mechanism to facilitate interactions between the Parties and indigenous peoples in the implementation of Article 8(j) and related provisons of the Convention.

Regional preparatory meetings for SBSTTA

191. The Subsidiary Body agreed that the following statement by the representative of Kenya, speaking on behalf of the African Group, supported by the representative of Peru, speaking on behalf of the Latin America and Caribbean Group, should be reflected in the report:

"Under article 25 of the Convention on Biological Diversity, the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice was established for the purpose of advising the Conference of Parties on scientific, technical and technological matters. This is a very important role, which is instrumental to the successful implementation of the Convention. To be able to provide advice to the Conference of Parties, the Subsidiary Body has obtained reports from Parties, Governments, experts, relevant organizations and the Executive Secretary.

"During the meetings of the Subsidiary Body, participants have the duty of articulating all issues related to the Convention and of providing sound advice to the Conference of Parties.

"The SBSTTA meetings are scheduled to last for one week, but there is often a wide range of disciplines and subjects to be discussed, requiring proper consultation and in-depth study of the papers.

"Several delegations, particularly from Africa, are very small. This has constituted some difficulties for African delegates, as there is insufficient time for adequate consultation during the meeting.

"In view of this, the African region wishes to recommend that the Conference of Parties be requested to provide funds for the preparation of regional meetings to allow for wide consultation and also for in-depth consideration of the Secretariat documents. African delegates feel that these pre-SBSTTA meetings will be crucial for their active participation and for their articulation of regional positions for the successful implementation of the Convention."

192. While recognizing that it was constrained by its mandate in the degree to which it was empowered to comment on financial matters, the Subsidiary Body

Page 34

considered that the question of funding for regional meetings was an appropriate topic to be discussed at the meeting of the Conference of the Parties.

<u>Harmonization of programmes</u>

- 193. The representative of Ecuador expressed concern with regard to the differing levels of advancement and different formats of the thematic work programmes and suggested that efforts be made to achieve consistency in the structure and the cross-cutting issues, on the basis of the joint work plan between the Convention on Wetlands and the Convention on Biological Diversity. She also suggested that efforts be undertaken to harmonize the formats of those work programmes, including a permanent set of cross-cutting topics.
- 194. The Subsidiary Body agreed that the concerns of the representative of Ecuador should be reflected in the report.

Meeting documentation

195. General appreciation was expressed for the high quality of the documentation produced by the Secretariat for the current meeting. Particular stress was laid on the usefulness of the executive summaries provided for each document and the suggested recommendations prepared by the Secretariat, which greatly facilitated the drafting work of the Subsidiary Body.

AGENDA ITEM 8: ADOPTION OF THE REPORT

196. The present report was adopted by the Subsidiary Body at the 7th plenary session of the meeting, on 4 February 2000, on the basis of the draft report that had been circulated as document UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/L.1 and Add.1 and 2.

AGENDA ITEM 9: CLOSURE OF THE MEETING

197. Following the customary exchange of courtesies, the Chair declared the fourth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice closed at 5.30 p.m. on Friday, 4 February 2000.

Annex I

RECOMMENDATIONS ADOPTED BY THE SUBSIDIARY BODY ON SCIENTIFIC, TECHNICAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE AT ITS FIFTH MEETING

V/1. Cooperation with other bodies

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technical Advice,

Noting with appreciation the ongoing cooperation with many other agreements and institutions, including the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, the United Nations Environment Programme, the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification in those Countries Experiencing Serious Drought and/or Desertification, particularly in Africa, the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands of International Importance especially as Waterfowl Habitat and the International Programme for Biodiversity Science (DIVERSITAS),

- 1. Requests the Executive Secretary, in collaboration with the United Nations Environment Programme, to explore with the Interim Steering Committee of the Millennium Assessment and other relevant conventions and organizations, ways and means of collaborating in undertaking the proposed Millennium Assessment of Global Ecosystems, and to inform the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting on the outcome of these discussions;
- 2. <u>Takes note</u> of the prospective Global Biodiversity Information Facility, <u>recognizes</u> that the Facility must ensure the scientific integrity of its work, <u>encourages</u> its development in conformity with the Convention on Biological Diversity, and <u>invites</u> the Facility to include as many countries as possible in its development and implementation;
- 3. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary, in consultation with the Bureau of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice, to identify with the Facility's Interim Steering Committee arrangements for cooperation between the Convention and the Facility, and mechanisms to involve countries that are not currently participating in the elaboration and implementation of the Global Diversity Information Facility project, and to inform the Conference of the Parties at its next meeting on the outcome of these discussions;
- 4. <u>Recommends</u> that the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting:
 - (a) Takes note of ongoing cooperation activities;
- (b) <u>Invites</u> the Executive Secretary to strengthen cooperation, particularly in the area of scientific and technical assessment of biodiversity, bearing in mind the importance of biodiversity assessments in identifying emerging issues and reviewing the programmes of work and the impact of measures taken under the Convention;
- (c) <u>Takes note</u> of the proposed Millennium Assessment of Global Ecosystems, taking into account and making use of the Global Biodiversity Assessment, and <u>decides</u> on follow-up action based on the outcome of the consultations of the Executive Secretary with the Interim Steering Committee of the Millenium Assessment;

- (d) <u>Invites</u> the Executive Secretary to strengthen the cooperation with the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, including its Kyoto Protocol, on issues relevant to forest biological diversity and coral reefs;
- (e) <u>Takes note</u> of the International Biodiversity Observation Year of DIVERSITAS, to take place from 2001 to 2002, and <u>requests</u> the Executive Secretary to find ways and means of collaborating with this inititative and ensure complementarity with the initiative foreseen to be undertaken by the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization and the Secretariat of the Convention on Biological Diversity to increase scientific knowledge and public awareness of the crucial role of biodiversity for sustainable development;
- (f) <u>Welcomes and endorses</u> the second joint work plan (2000-2001) between the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands, and <u>commends</u> it as a useful example of future cooperation between the Convention on Biological Diversity and other environmental conventions;
- (g) <u>Notes</u> that the second joint work plan between the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands includes a range of cooperative actions in relation to several ecosystem themes and cross-cutting issues of the Convention on Biological Diversity, as well as proposing actions to harmonize institutional processes, and <u>requests</u> the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice and the Executive Secretary to take these actions fully into consideration in furthering the respective programmes of work for these areas.

V/2. Pilot phase of the clearing-house mechanism

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice

- 1. <u>Acknowledges</u> the contributions and valuable role that have been provided by the Informal Advisory Committee in the formulation of the independent review of the pilot phase of the clearing-house mechanism (), its strategic plan (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/2) and longer-term programme of work (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/3);
- 2. <u>Acknowledges</u> the progress made in developing the clearing-house mechanism in its pilot phase, and calls for the continued engagement and support of the Executive Secretary in the further development of the clearing-house mechanism;
- 3. <u>Recommends</u> that the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting:
- (a) <u>Notes with appreciation</u> the report of the independent review of the pilot phase of the clearing-house mechanism, as contained in document UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/1;
- (b) <u>Endorses</u> the immediate implementation of the strategic plan for the clearing-house mechanism, as contained in document UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/2, and <u>takes into consideration</u> that it would form part of an overall strategic planning of the Convention on Biological Diversity;
- (c) <u>Also endorses</u> the longer-term programme of work for the clearing-house mechanism, as contained in document UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/3, while recognizing that the role of the Informal Advisory Committee is limited to advising the Executive Secretary;
- (d) As priorities for the biennium 2001-2002, <u>recommends</u> Parties and Governments, subject to availability of resources and relevance, to:
 - (i) Establish a national directory of scientific institutions and experts working on specific thematic areas of the Convention on Biological Diversity and make it available through the clearing-house mechanism;
 - (ii) Conduct a survey to establish a national baseline of existing scientific and technical cooperation initiatives relevant to the implementation of the provisions of the Convention on Biological Diversity;
 - (iii) Establish, through the national clearing-house mechanism focal points, links to non-governmental organizations and other institutions holding important relevant databases or undertaking significant work on biodiversity;
 - (iv) Establish regional or subregional clearing-house mechanism
 focal points;
 - (v) Establish national, regional and subregional clearing-house mechanism thematic focal points;

- (vi) Further develop the clearing-house mechanism to assist developing countries in gaining access to information in the field of scientific and technical cooperation, in particular on:
 - a. Funding opportunities;
 - b. Access to and transfer of technologies;
 - c. Research cooperation facilities;
 - d. Repatriation of information;
 - e. Training opportunities; and
 - f. Promoting and facilitating contact with relevant institutions, organizations, and the private sector, providing such services;
- (viii) Consider the general public as an important target audience of users of the clearing-house mechanism;
 - (ix) Develop initiatives to make information available through the clearing-house mechanism more useful for researchers and decision makers;
 - (x) Develop, provide and share services and tools for the purposes of enhancing and facilitating the implementation of the clearing-house mechanism and further improving synergies with the biodiversity-related and Rio conventions;
 - (xi) Undertake cost-efectiveness analyses regarding the effective implementation of the clearing-house mechanism, taking into account investments related to institutional, human, financial, technological and informational resources;
- (e) <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary, in consultation with the Informal Advisory Committee and other relevant bodies, to:
 - (i) Develop ways and means to ensure a broader understanding of the role of, and value added by, the clearing-house mechanism;
 - (ii) Further develop non-Internet-based tools to assist Parties in their national implementation efforts;
 - (iii) Identify and establish cooperative arrangements with international thematic focal points, which can provide relevant and appropriate thematic information, using the following criteria:
 - a. Expertise on themes directly relevant to the Convention on Biological Diversity;

- b. Experience and expertise at the international level;
- c. Endorsement of proposed thematic focal points by at least three national focal points;
- d. Designation of a specific theme and a defined period of time;
- e. Selection between one or more thematic focal points for each theme;
- f. Ability to leverage infrastructure;
- g. Provision of relevant content;
- h. Experience with specific issues;
- i. Ability to advance the clearing-house mechanism's objectives;
- j. Ability to advance partner's objectives;
- k. Provision of open access to information;
- 1. Allowance for the custodianship to remain with the provider of information, as well as the provision of metadata in the public domain;
- (iv) Convene regional workshops to support capacity-building for clearing-house mechanism activities, training and awareness, with a focus on cooperation in biodiversity information related to the implementation and management of the clearinghouse mechanism at the national, subregional, bio-geographic and regional levels, as appropriate;
- (v) Develop a pilot initiative for supporting the thematic issues directly linked to the work programme of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice, including:
 - a. Identification of national institutions and experts working on that specific theme by national focal points, including through inter-linkages with the rosters of experts in the relevant fields of the Convention on Biological Diversity;
 - b. Provision of particular information to the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice by national focal points;
 - c. Use of the clearing-house mechanism to facilitate a consultation process for relevant assessments;
 - d. Identification of needs for scientific and technical cooperation at the national level to ensure the implementation of pilot initiatives;

- (vi) Propose options for improving the means for facilitating
 access to and transfer of technology by the clearing-house
 mechanism;
- (vii) Develop a list of best practices and identify potential functions recommended for implementation by clearing-house mechanism national focal points;
- (viii) Identify possible formats, protocols and standards for the improved exchange of biodiversity-related data, information and knowledge, including national reports, biodiversity assessments and Global Biodiversity Outlook reports, and convene an informal meeting on this issue;
 - (ix) Identify options and explore cooperative arrangements to overcome language barriers as regards the use of the clearinghouse mechanism, including the development or consolidation of tools and services;
 - (x) Develop a global electronic platform for scientific and technical cooperation in biodiversity on the Internet to match the demands and needs of Parties with respect to Article 18 of the Convention, as a transparent, open and publicly accessible forum;
 - (xi) Encourage the establishment and maintenance of mirror sites of the Secretariat's website, within the other United Nations regions, as appropriate, in order to expedite access to Internet-based information.

V/3. Review of the Global Taxonomy Initiative

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice

- 1. <u>Recommends</u> that the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting:
- (a) <u>Establishes</u> a Global Taxonomy Initiative coordination mechanism to assist the Executive Secretary to facilitate international cooperation and coordinate activities under the Global Taxonomy Initiative. The coordination mechanism should include representatives from key taxonomic institutions (regionally balanced) and initiatives, the International Council of Scientific Unions, the Global Biodiversity Information Facility, the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, the United Nations Environment Programme and the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization. The Global Taxonomy Initiative coordination mechanism should work closely with the clearing-house mechanism;
- (b) <u>Urges</u> Parties, Governments and relevant organizations to undertake the following priority activities to further the Global Taxonomy Initiative:
 - (i) The identification of national and regional priority taxonomic information requirements;
 - (ii) Assessments of national taxonomic capacity to identify and, where possible, quantify national and regional-level taxonomic impediments and needs, including the identification of taxonomic tools, facilities and services required at all levels, and mechanisms to establish, support and maintain such tools, facilities and services;
 - (iii) Establishment or consolidation of regional and national taxonomic reference centres;
 - (iv) The building of taxonomic capacity in particular in developing countries, including through partnerships between national, regional and international taxonomic reference centres;
 - (v) Communicate to the Executive Secretary and Global Taxonomy Initiative coordination mechanism suitable programmes, projects and initiatives for consideration as pilot projects under the Global Taxonomy Initiative;
- (c) <u>Requests</u> that the Executive Secretary, with the assistance of the Global Taxonomy Initiative coordination mechanism:
 - (i) Draft as a component of the strategic plan for the Convention on Biological Diversity, a work programme for the Global Taxonomy Initiative defining timetables, goals, products and pilot projects, emphasizing its role in underpinning conservation, sustainable use and equitable sharing of benefits, for consideration by the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice;
 - (ii) Initiate short-term activities, in particular regional meetings of scientists, managers and policy makers to

- prioritize the most urgent global taxonomic needs, and facilitate the formulation of specific projects to meet the needs identified, and to report thereon to the Conference of the Parties at its sixth meeting;
- (iii) Synthesize the findings of previous meetings of experts on the Global Taxonomy Initiative (as contained in the note by the Executive Secretary on the review of the Global Taxonomy Initiative (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/4)), relevant sections of national reports submitted to the Conference of the Parties and recommendations of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological on the Global Taxonomy Initiative, as advice for the proposed regional meetings;
 - (iv) Use the Global Taxonomy Initiative as a forum to promote the importance of taxonomy and taxonomic tools in the implementation of the Convention;
- (d) <u>Requests</u> all Parties and Governments to designate a national Global Taxonomy Initiative focal point, linked to other national focal points, and participate in the development of regional networks to facilitate information-sharing for the Global Taxonomy Initiative;
- 2. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary to develop terms of reference for the Global Taxonomy Initiative coordination mechanism for submission to the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting.

V/4. Alien species: quiding principles for the prevention, introduction and mitigation of impacts

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice,

Acknowledging that the definition of alien species for this work programme has to be developed,

Recommends that the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting:

- 1. <u>Invites</u> Parties to take into account the interim guiding principles contained in annex I to the present recommendation in the context of activities aimed at implementing Article 8(h) of the Convention on Biological Diversity;
- 2. Adopts the outline for case-studies contained in annex II of the present recommendation;
- 3. <u>Invites</u> Parties to submit case-studies particularly focusing on thematic assessments to the Executive Secretary on the basis of the outline contained in annex II to the present recommendation;
- 4. Requests the clearing-house mechanism to disseminate and compile these case-studies;
- 5. Requests the Executive Secretary, in close collaboration with the Global Invasive Species Programme, relevant organizations and other relevant international and regional binding and non-binding instruments to ensure consistency with the development of standard terminology on alien species (as referred to in recommendation IV/4, paragraphs 4 (f) and 4 (i)), and to further elaborate the interim guiding principles on the prevention, introduction and mitigation of the impacts of alien species, to be considered by the Subsidiary Body at its sixth meeting, in preparation for the sixth meeting of the Conference of the Parties;
- 6. Requests Parties, other Governments, relevant bodies and other relevant international and regional binding and non-binding instruments, in the light of discussions by the Subsidiary Body at its fifth meeting, to submit to the Executive Secretary written comments on the interim guiding principles, to be taken into account, together with the case-studies, in the further elaboration of the interim guiding principles, to be considered by the Subsidiary Body at its sixth meeting, and requests the Executive Secretary to distribute those comments through the national focal points;
- 7. <u>Invites</u> the Global Invasive Species Programme to report on its September 2000 meeting on the "synthesis of GISP phase 1" to the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice at its sixth meeting;
- 8. Requests the Executive Secretary to cooperate with other international bodies and other relevant international and regional binding and non-binding instruments, such as the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals, the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora, the Convention on Wetlands of International Importance especially as Waterfowl Habitat (Ramsar), the Convention on the Conservation of European Wildlife and Natural Habitats, the International Plant Protection Convention and regional plant protection

organizations, Codex Alimentarius, DIVERSITAS, the Office International des Epizooties, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization, and the organizations mentioned in paragraph 4 (f) of recommendation IV/4, with the aim to coordinate work on alien species, and to report on potential joint programmes of work to the Subsidiary Body at its sixth meeting;

- 9. Requests the Executive Secretary to develop a paper, for consideration at the sixth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice and the sixth meeting of the Conference of the Parties, setting out options for future work of the Convention on Biological Diversity on alien species, which would provide practical support to Parties, Governments and organizations in the implementation of Article 8(h) of the Convention and the guiding principles on alien species;
- 10. <u>Urges</u> Parties, other Governments and relevant bodies to give priority to the implementation of alien invasive species strategies and actions plans, as soon as they are developed.

Annex I

INTERIM GUIDING PRINCIPLES FOR THE PREVENTION, INTRODUCTION AND MITIGATION OF IMPACTS OF ALIEN SPECIES

It should be noted that in the interim guiding principles below, terms are used for which a definition has not yet been developed, pending a decision by the Conference of Parties on the development of a standardized terminology on alien species, as mentioned in paragraph 5 of recommendation V/4. In the interim and for the purpose of these interim principles, to avoid confusion the following definitions are used: (i) "alien" or "alien species" refers to a species occurring outside its normal distribution; and (ii) "alien invasive species" refers to those alien species which threaten ecosystems, habitats or species.

A. <u>General</u>

Guiding principle 1: Precautionary approach

Given the unpredictability of the impacts on biological diversity of alien species, efforts to identify and prevent unintentional introductions as well as decisions concerning intentional introductions should be based on the precautionary approach. Lack of scientific certainty about the environmental, social and economic risk posed by a potentially invasive alien species or by a potential pathway should not be used as a reason for not taking preventative action against the introduction of potentially invasive alien species. Likewise, lack of certainty about the long-term implication of an invasion should not be used as a reason for postponing eradication, containment or control measures.

Guiding principle 2: Three-stage hierarchical approach

Prevention is generally far more cost effective and environmentally desirable than measures taken following introduction of an alien invasive species. Priority should be given to prevention of entry of alien invasive species (both between and within States). If entry has already taken place, actions should be undertaken to prevent the establishment and spread of alien

species. The preferred response would be eradication at the earliest possible stage (principle 13). In the event that eradication is not feasible or is not cost-effective, containment (principle 14) and long-term control measures (principle 15) should be considered. Any examination of benefits and costs (both environmental and economic) should be done on a long-term basis.

Guiding principle 3: Ecosystem approach

All measures to deal with alien invasive species should be based on the ecosystem approach, in line with the relevant provisions of the Convention and the decisions of the Conference of the Parties.

Guiding principle 4: State responsibility

States should recognize the risk that they may pose to other States as a potential source of alien invasive species, and should take appropriate actions to minimize that risk. In accordance with Article 3 of the Convention on Biological Diversity, and principle 2 of the 1992 Rio Declaration on Environment and Development, States have the responsibility to ensure that activities within their jurisdiction or control do not cause damage to the environment of other States or of areas beyond the limits of national jurisdiction. In the context of alien invasive species, activities that could be a risk for another State include:

- (a) The intentional or unintentional transfer of an alien invasive species to another State (even if it is harmless in the State of origin); and
- (b) The intentional or unintentional introduction of an alien species into their own State if there is a risk of that species subsequently spreading (with or without a human vector) into another State and becoming invasive.

Guiding principle 5: Research and monitoring

In order to develop an adequate knowledge base to address the problem, States should undertake appropriate research on and monitoring of alien invasive species. This should document the history of invasions (origin, pathways and time-period), characteristics of the alien invasive species, ecology of the invasion, and the associated ecological and economic impacts and how they change over time. Monitoring is the key to early detection of new alien species. It requires targeted and general surveys, which can benefit from the involvement of local communities.

Guiding principle 6: Education and public awareness

States should facilitate education and public awareness of the risks associated with the introduction of alien species. When mitigation measures are required, education and public-awareness-oriented programmes should be set in motion so as to inform local communities and appropriate sector groups on how to support such measures.

B. <u>Prevention</u>

Guiding principle 7: Border control and quarantine measures

1. States should implement border control and quarantine measures to ensure that:

- (a) Intentional introductions are subject to appropriate authorization (principle 10);
- (b) Unintentional or unauthorized introductions of alien species are minimized.
- 2. These measures should be based on an assessment of the risks posed by alien species and their potential pathways of entry. Existing appropriate governmental agencies or authorities should be strengthened and broadened as necessary, and staff should be properly trained to implement these measures. Early detection systems and regional coordination may be useful.

Guiding principle 8: Exchange of information

States should support the development of database(s), such as that currently under development by the Global Invasive Species Programme, for compilation and dissemination of information on alien species that threaten ecosystems, habitats or species, to be used in the context of any prevention, introduction and mitigation activities. This information should include incident lists, information on taxonomy and ecology of invasive species and on control methods, whenever available. The wide dissemination of this information, as well as national, regional and international guidelines, procedures and recommendations such as those being compiled by the Global Invasive Species Programme should also be facilitated through, inter alia, the clearing-house mechanism.

Guiding principle 9: Cooperation, including capacity-building

Depending on the situation, a State's response might be purely internal (within the country), or may require a cooperative effort between two or more countries, such as:

- (a) Where a State of origin is aware that a species being exported has the potential to be invasive in the receiving State, the exporting State should provide information, as available, on the potential invasiveness of the species to the importing State. Particular attention should be paid where exporting Parties have similar environments;
- (b) Agreements between countries, on a bilateral or multilateral basis, should be developed and used to regulate trade in certain alien species, with a focus on particularly damaging invasive species;
- (c) States should support capacity-building programmes for States that lack the expertise and resources, including financial, to assess the risks of introducing alien species. Such capacity-building may involve technology transfer and the development of training programmes.

C. <u>Introduction of species</u>

Guiding principle 10: Intentional introduction

No intentional introduction should take place without proper authorization from the relevant national authority or agency. A risk assessment, including environmental impact assessment, should be carried out as part of the evaluation process before coming to a decision on whether or not to authorize a proposed introduction. States should authorize the

introduction of only those alien species that, based on this prior assessment, are unlikely to cause unacceptable harm to ecosystems, habitats or species, both within that State and in neighbouring States. The burden of proof that a proposed introduction is unlikely to cause such harm should be with the proposer of the introduction. Further, the anticipated benefits of such an introduction should strongly outweigh any actual and potential adverse effects and related costs. Authorization of an introduction may, where appropriate, be accompanied by conditions (e.g., preparation of a mitigation plan, monitoring procedures, or containment requirements). The precautionary approach should be applied throughout all the above-mentioned measures.

<u>Guiding principle 11: Unintentional introductions</u>

- 1. All States should have in place provisions to address unintentional introductions (or intentional introductions that have established and become invasive). These include statutory and regulatory measures, institutions and agencies with appropriate responsibilities and with the operational resources required for rapid and effective action.
- 2. Common pathways leading to unintentional introductions need to be identified and appropriate provisions to minimize such introductions should be in place. Sectoral activities, such as fisheries, agriculture, forestry, horticulture, shipping (including the discharge of ballast waters), ground and air transportation, construction projects, landscaping, ornamental aquaculture, tourism and game-farming, are often pathways for unintentional introductions. Legislation requiring environmental impact assessment of such activities should also require an assessment of the risks associated with unintentional introductions of alien invasive species.

D. <u>Mitigation of impacts</u>

Guiding principle 12: Mitigation of impacts

Once the establishment of an alien invasive species has been detected, States should take steps such as eradication, containment and control, to mitigate the adverse effects. Techniques used for eradication, containment or control should be cost-effective, safe to the environment, humans and agriculture, as well as socially, culturally and ethically acceptable. Mitigation measures should take place in the earliest possible stage of invasion, on the basis of the precautionary approach. Hence, early detection of new introductions of potentially invasive or invasive species is important, and needs to be combined with the capacity to take rapid follow-up action.

Guiding principle 13: Eradication

Where it is feasible and cost-effective, eradication should be given priority over other measures to deal with established alien invasive species. The best opportunity for eradicating alien invasive species is in the early stages of invasion, when populations are small and localized; hence, early detection systems focused on high-risk entry points can be critically useful. Community support, built through comprehensive consultation, should be an integral part of eradication projects.

Guiding principle 14: Containment

When eradication is not appropriate, limitation of spread (containment) is an appropriate strategy only where the range of the invasive species is limited and containment within defined boundaries is possible. Regular monitoring outside the control boundaries is essential, with quick action to eradicate any new outbreaks.

Guiding principle 15: Control

Control measures should focus on reducing the damage caused rather than on merely reducing the numbers of the alien invasive species. Effective control will often rely on a range of integrated techniques. Most control measures will need to be regularly applied, resulting in a recurrent operating budget and the need for a long-term commitment to achieve and maintain results. In some instances, biological control may give long-term suppression of an alien invasive species without recurrent costs, but should always be implemented in line with existing national regulations, international codes and principle 10 above.

Annex II

OUTLINE FOR CASE-STUDIES ON ALIEN SPECIES

To the extent possible, case-studies should be short and succinct summaries of experience on alien species at the country and regional levels. A case-study should focus on the prevention of introduction, control, and eradication of alien species that threaten ecosystems, habitats or species.

Case-studies should include the following sections (a summary of the information may be provided under each heading, and a more detailed paper may be attached; if the information were not available, this should be indicated in the appropriate section):

1. <u>Description of the problem</u>

- (a) Location of the case-study
- (b) History (origin, pathway and dates, including time-period between initial entry/first detection of alien species and development of impacts) of introduction(s)
- (c) Description of the alien species concerned: biology of the alien species (the scientific name of species should be indicated if possible) and ecology of the invasion(s) (type of and potential or actual impacts on biological diversity and ecosystem(s) invaded or threatened, and stakeholders involved)
- (d) Vector(s) of invasion(s) (e.g. of deliberate importation, contamination of imported goods, ballast water, hull-fouling and spread from adjacent area. It should be specified, if known, whether entry was deliberate and legal, deliberate and illegal, accidental, or natural)

(e) Assessment and monitoring activities conducted and methods applied, including difficulties encountered (e.g. uncertainties due to missing taxonomic knowledge)

2. Options considered to address the problem

- (a) Description of the decision-making process (stakeholders involved, consultation processes used, etc.)
- (b) Type of measures (research and monitoring; training of specialists; prevention, early detection, eradication, control/containment measures, habitat and/or natural community restoration; legal provisions; public education and awareness)
- (c) Options selected, time-frame and reasons for selecting the options
- (d) Institutions responsible for decisions and actions

3. <u>Implementation of measures</u>, including assessment of effectiveness

- (a) Ways and means set in place for implementation
- (b) Achievements (specify whether the action was fully successful, partially successful, or unsuccessful), including any adverse effects of the actions taken on the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity
- (c) Costs of action

4. Lessons learned from the operation and other conclusions

- (a) Further measures needed, including transboundary, regional and multilateral cooperation
- (b) Replicability for other regions, ecosystems or groups of organisms
- (c) Information compilation and dissemination needed

V/5. Inland water biological diversity

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice,

<u>Noting with appreciation</u> the fruitful cooperation between the Secretariat and organizations, institutions, and conventions working on topics related to inland water biological diversity in the implementation of general activities pertaining to the programme of work on inland water biological diversity,

Noting the need to broaden this cooperation by involving organizations and activities such as the Global International Waters Assessment, the Global Action Plan on Peatlands, the World Resources Institute, as well as to take into account, as appropriate, the finalized Water Policy Strategy of the United Nations Environment Programme, and to make use of the experience of organizations such as the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and IUCN-The World Conservation Union in the development of databases and in the identification of indicators for inland water biological diversity,

 $\underline{\text{Noting also}}$ the need to cooperate, as appropriate, with other non-governmental organizations developing activities relevant to the programme of work,

Recommends that the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting:

- 1. <u>Notes</u> the various ways and means to implement the programme of work on inland water biological diversity and obstacles in implementing some aspects of the work plan of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice;
- 2. <u>Endorses</u> the proposed joint work plan 2000-2001 of the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands of International Importance especially as Waterfowl Habitat (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/12), bearing in mind that not all Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity are Parties to the Ramsar Convention;
- 3. <u>Encourages</u> Parties to address the lack of information on the status of inland water biological diversity at the national level and to include this information in their national reports;
- 4. Requests the Executive Secretary to compile systematically information on the implementation of the programme of work on inland water biological diversity for dissemination through the clearing-house mechanism and to report on it as part of the review of the work programme that the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice will carry out at its eighth meeting;
- 5. <u>Invites</u> relevant organizations and activities, in particular the Global International Waters Assessment, to contribute to the assessment of inland water biological diversity and to fully integrate a biological diversity component in its methodology protocol.

V/6. Marine and coastal biological diversity: implementation tools for the programme of work and analysis of coral bleaching

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice,

<u>Commending</u> the Executive Secretary for the excellent quality of the results of the Expert Consultation on Coral Bleaching organized under his auspices in Manila from 11 to 13 October 1999,

Recommends that the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting:

- 1. <u>Takes note</u> of the tools that have been used for the implementation of the programme of work on the conservation and sustainable use of marine and coastal biological diversity and <u>requests</u> the Executive Secretary to report to future meetings of the Subsidiary Bodies on the application of these tools;
- 2. <u>Endorses</u> the results of the Expert Consultation on Coral Bleaching, as contained in the annex to the present recommendation;
- 3. Requests the Executive Secretary to integrate fully the issue of coral bleaching in the programme of work on the conservation and sustainable use of marine and coastal biological diversity and to develop and implement a specific work plan on coral bleaching, taking into account the recommendations in the annex to the present recommendation, as appropriate, and invites
 Parties, other Governments and relevant bodies to contribute to its implementation. In conducting his work on coral bleaching, the Executive Secretary will liaise with, inter-alia, the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, the Convention on Wetlands, the United Nations Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization (including the World Heritage Convention), the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, regional fisheries organizations, the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, the Global International Waters Assessment, the Global Coral Reef Monitoring Network, and the International Coral Reef Initiative;
- 4. <u>Notes</u> that there is significant evidence that climate change is a primary cause of the recent and severe extensive coral bleaching, and that this evidence is sufficient to warrant remedial measures being taken in line with the precautionary approach and <u>transmits</u> that view to the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change and <u>urges</u> the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change to take all possible actions to reduce the effect of climate change on water temperatures and to address the socio-economic impacts on the countries and communities most affected by coral bleaching;
- 5. <u>Urges</u> Parties, other Governments and relevant bodies to implement response measures to the phenomenon of coral bleaching by:
- (a) Identifying and instituting additional and alternative measures for securing the livelihoods of people who directly depend on coral-reef services;
- (b) Encouraging and supporting multi-disciplinary approaches to action relating to coral-reef management, research and monitoring, including the use of early-warning systems for coral bleaching, and collaborating with the International Coral Reef Initiative and the Global Coral Reef Monitoring Network;

- (c) Building stakeholder partnerships, community participation programmes, and public education campaigns and information products that address the causes and consequences of coral bleaching;
- (d) Using appropriate policy frameworks to implement integrated marine and coastal area management plans and programmes that supplement marine and coastal protected areas and the multiple conservation measures outlined in the Renewed Call to Action of the International Coral Reef Initiative;
- (e) Supporting capacity-building measures, including training of and career opportunity for marine taxonomists, ecologists, and members of other relevant disciplines, particularly at the national level;
- (f) Implementing and coordinating targeted research programmes, including predictive modeling, in the context, as appropriate, of ongoing activities referred to in paragraph 3 of the present recommendation;
- 6. <u>Invites</u> Parties, other Governments and relevant bodies to submit case-studies on the coral bleaching phenomenon to the Executive Secretary, for dissemination through the clearing-house mechanism;
- 7. <u>Considers</u> the need for arrangements to make resources available to support the implementation of specific actions identified in paragraph 5 of the present recommendation.

<u>Annex</u>

CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS OF THE EXPERT CONSULTATION ON CORAL BLEACHING ON PRIORITY AREAS FOR ACTION

A. <u>Information-gathering</u>

<u>Issue</u>: Our ability to adequately project, and thus mitigate, the impacts of global warming on coral-reef ecosystems and the human communities which depend upon coral-reef services is limited by the paucity of information on:

- (a) The taxonomic, genetic, physiological, spatial, and temporal factors governing the response of corals, zooxanthellae, the coral-zooxanthellae system, and other coral-reef-associated species to increases in sea-surface temperature;
- (b) The role of coral reefs as critical habitat for marine species and natural resources for human communities;
- (c) The current status of coral-reef health and threats to coral reefs; and $\ensuremath{\text{c}}$

(d) The potential capacity of recovery $\underline{1}/$ of corals and resilience of the ecosystem after mass mortality.

Response:

- (a) Implement and coordinate targeted research programmes, including predictive modeling, that investigate: (1) the tolerance limits and adaptation capacity of coral-reef species to acute and chronic increases in sea-surface temperature; (2) the relationship among large-scale coral-bleaching events, global warming, and the more localized threats that already place reefs at risk; and (3) the frequency and extent of coral-bleaching and mortality events, as well as their impacts on ecological, social and economic systems;
- (b) Implement and coordinate baseline assessments, long-term monitoring, and rapid response teams to measure the biological and meteorological variables relevant to coral bleaching, mortality and recovery, as well as the socio-economic parameters associated with coral-reef services. To this end, support and expand the Global Coral Reef Monitoring Network (GCRMN) and regional networks, and data-repository and dissemination systems including ReefBase the Global Coral Reef Database. Also, the current combined Sida-SAREC and World Bank programme on coral reef degradation in the Indian Ocean (CORDIO), as a response to the 1998 coral-bleaching event, could be used as an example;
- (c) Develop a rapid response capability to document coral bleaching and mortality in developing countries and remote areas. This would involve the establishment of training programmes, survey protocols, availability of expert advice, and the establishment of a contingency fund or rapid release of special project funding;
- (d) Encourage and support countries in the development and dissemination of status of the reefs reports and case studies on the occurrence and impacts of coral bleaching.

<u>Issue</u>: The remoteness of many coral reefs and the paucity of funding and personnel to support on-site assessments of coral reefs requires that remotesensing technologies are developed and applied in the evaluation of coralbleaching events.

Response: Extend the use of early-warning systems for coral bleaching by:

(a) Enhancing current NOAA AVHRR HotSpot mapping by increasing resolution in targeted areas and carry out ground-truth validation exercises;

 $[\]underline{1}/$ Recovery is the return of a coral colony to a state of health, including a symbiotic relationship with zooxanthellae, after the health and/or symbiotic relationship has been disrupted by a stress or perturbation. Recovery may involve a change in the genetic composition of species of the zooxanthellae. Resilience is the return of a coral reef ecosystem to a state in which living, reef-building corals play a prominent functional role, after this role has been disrupted by a stress or perturbation. A shift toward high dominance by frondose algae accompanied by a reduction in the functional role of coral would indicate a situation of low resilience.

- (b) Encouraging space agencies and private entities to maintain deployment of relevant sensors and to initiate design and deployment of specialized technology for shallow-oceans monitoring; and
- (c) Making the products of remote sensing readily accessible to coral reef scientists and managers worldwide with a view to those scientists and managers that are based in developing countries.

B. <u>Capacity-building</u>

<u>Issue</u>: There is a substantial lack of trained personnel to investigate the causes and consequences of coral bleaching events.

<u>Response</u>: Support the training of and career opportunities for marine taxonomists, ecologists, and members of other relevant disciplines, particularly at the national and regional level.

<u>Issue</u>: Coral bleaching is a complex phenomenon. Understanding the causes and consequences of coral bleaching events requires the knowledge, skills, and technologies of a wide variety of disciplines. Any action aimed at addressing the issue should bear in mind the ecosystem approach, incorporating both the ecological and societal aspects of the problem.

<u>Response</u>: Encourage and support multidisciplinary approaches to coral-reef research, monitoring, socio-economics and management.

<u>Issue</u>: Public awareness and education are required to build support for effective research, monitoring, and management programmes, as well as policy measures.

<u>Response</u>: Build stakeholder partnerships, community participation programmes, and public education campaigns and information products that address the causes and consequences of coral bleaching.

C. Policy development/implementation

<u>Issue</u>: Nearly 60 per cent of the world's coral reefs are threatened by localized, human activities that have the potential to exacerbate the impacts of coral-bleaching events. Evaluations of the 1998 coral-bleaching events suggest that marine protected areas alone may not provide adequate protection for at least some corals and other reef-associated species as sea-surface-temperature rise.

<u>Response</u>: Use existing policy frameworks to implement the multiple conservation measures outlined in the Renewed Call to Action of the International Coral Reef Initiative, and develop and implement comprehensive local to national scale integrated marine and coastal area management plans that supplement marine protected areas.

<u>Issue</u>: Most coral reefs are located in developing countries, and the majority of the people living near coral reefs are often extremely poor. Thus, even minor declines in the productivity of coral-reef ecosystems as a result of coral bleaching events could have dramatic socio-economic consequences for local people who depend on coral-reef services.

<u>Response</u>: Identify and institute additional and alternative measures for securing the livelihoods of people who directly depend on coral-reef services.

<u>Issue</u>: Coral bleaching is relevant not only to the Convention on Biological Diversity but also the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change and the Convention on Wetlands. The ultimate objective of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change is to reduce emissions in a manner that "allows ecosystems to adapt 'naturally' to climate change". The United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change calls upon Parties to take action in relation to funding, insurance, and technology transfer to address the adverse effects of climate change. The Convention on Wetlands provides guidance on the conservation and wise use of wetlands, including coral reefs.

<u>Response</u>: Initiate efforts to develop joint actions among the Convention on Biological Diversity, the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, and the Convention on Wetlands to:

- (a) Develop approaches for assessing the vulnerability of coral reef species to global warming;
- (b) Build capacity for predicting and monitoring the impacts of coral bleaching;
- (c) Identify approaches for developing response measures to coral bleaching; and
- (d) Provide guidance to financial institutions, including the Global Environment Facility, to support such activities.

<u>Issue</u>: Coral bleaching has the potential to impact local fisheries, as well as certain high-value commercial pelagic fisheries and coastal ecosystems.

<u>Response</u>: Encourage the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and regional fisheries organizations to develop and implement measures to assess and mitigate the impacts of sea surface temperature rise on fisheries.

<u>Issue</u>: Coral-bleaching events are a warning of even more severe impacts to marine systems. If anomalous sea-water temperatures continue to rise, become more frequent, or are prolonged, the physiological thresholds of other organisms will be surpassed. Not only will local fisheries be impacted, but certain high-value commercial pelagic fisheries and coastal ecosystems will be affected as well.

<u>Response</u>: Emphasize that coral bleaching can be monitored as an early warning of the impacts of global warming on marine ecosystems and that the collapse of coral-reef ecosystems could impact ecological processes of the larger marine system of which coral reefs are a part.

<u>Issue</u>: The observations of the 1998 coral-bleaching events suggest that coral-reef conservation can no longer be achieved without consideration of the global climate system and that it requires efforts to mitigate accelerated global climate change.

<u>Response</u>: Emphasize the interdependencies and uncertainties in the relationships among marine, terrestrial, and climatic systems.

D. Financing

<u>Issue</u>: Because the issue of climate change is global and long-term in scale, Governments around the world need to work together to make funds available to

UNEP/CBD/COP/5/3 Page 56

implement initiatives to address the causes and consequences of coral bleaching.

<u>Response</u>: Mobilize international programmes and mechanisms for financial and technical development assistance, such as the World Bank, the United Nations Development Programme, regional development banks, as well as national and private sources to support implementation of these priority actions.

V/7. Forest biological diversity: status and trends and identification of options for conservation and sustainable use

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice,

Noting the desire expressed to enhance progress made in the implementation of the work programme for forest biological diversity,

Stressing that in implementing the work programme, due consideration should be given to all types of forest, including planted forests, and to the restoration of forest ecosystems,

Recalling the need to address the underlying causes of deforestation and forest degradation, such as poverty,

<u>Noting</u> the need to ensure the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity in future forest activities under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change,

Recommends that the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting:

- 1. <u>Urges</u> the Parties, Governments and organizations to advance the implementation of the work programme for forest biological diversity;
- 2. <u>Considers</u> expanding the focus of the work programme from research to practical actions in order to address urgently the conservation and sustainable use of forest biological diversity, applying the ecosystem approach and taking into consideration the outcome of the fourth session of the Intergovernmental Forum on Forests;
- 3. <u>Establishes</u> an ad hoc technical expert group on forest biological diversity, taking into account the outcome of the Intergovernmental Forum on Forests. Its mandate, as proposed in recommendation V/14, should last until the seventh meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice;
- 4. <u>Requests</u> Parties, countries, international organizations and other relevant bodies to provide relevant information on the implementation of the work programme through, <u>inter alia</u>, case-studies, entries in national reports and other means, as appropriate;
- 5. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary to invite the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and other forest-related bodies, institutions and processes to contribute to the assessment of status and trends, including gaps and priority actions needed to address threats to forest biological diversity;
- 6. Requests the Executive Secretary to liaise with the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change with regard to, inter alia, the Special Report on Land Use, Land-Use Change and Forestry of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, and with the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands, and to seek ways and means to integrate consideration of forest biological diversity in future activities of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change addressing forests and carbon sequestration.

V/8. <u>Biological diversity of dryland, Mediterranean, arid, semi-arid, grassland and savannah ecosystems: options for the development of a programme of work</u>

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice recommends that the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting:

- 1. <u>Establishes</u> a programme of work on the biological diversity of dryland, Mediterranean, arid, semi-arid, grassland, and savannah ecosystems, which may also be known as the programme on "dry and sub-humid lands", bearing in mind the close linkages between poverty and loss of biological diversity in these areas;
- 2. <u>Endorses</u> a first phase of the programme of work, contained in the annex to this recommendation, and <u>urges</u> Parties, countries, international and regional organizations, major groups and other relevant bodies to implement it;
- 3. <u>Considers</u> the need to provide the necessary financial support, in accordance with Articles 20 and 21 of the Convention on Biological Diversity, for activities required for the implementation of the programme of work, and for capacity-building;
- 4. <u>Requests</u> the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice to review and assess periodically (initially after two years, thereafter every four years) the status and trends of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands on the basis of the outputs of the activities of the programme of work, and make recommendations for the further elaboration of the programme of work, as appropriate;
- 5. Requests the Executive Secretary to collaborate with the Secretariat of the Convention to Combat Desertification, including through the development of a joint work programme, as well as with other relevant bodies, in the implementation and further elaboration of the programme of work;
- 6. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary to establish a roster of experts on the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands and to explore the possibility of establishing an ad hoc technical expert group to assess the loss of biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands;
- 7. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary to make available relevant information on the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands through various means, including the clearing-house mechanism, including the development in the clearing-house mechanism of a database on drylands.

<u>Annex</u>

DRAFT PROGRAMME OF WORK ON DRY AND SUB-HUMID LANDS

I. INTRODUCTION

- 1. The overall aim of the programme of work is to promote the three objectives of the Convention in dry and sub-humid lands.
- 2. The elaboration and implementation of the programme of work should:

- (a) Build upon existing knowledge and ongoing activities and management practices, and promote a concerted response to fill knowledge gaps while supporting best management practices through partnership among countries and institutions;
- (b) Ensure harmony with the other relevant thematic programmes of work under the Convention on Biological Diversity, as well as the work on crosscutting issues;
- (c) Promote synergy and coordination, and avoid unnecessary duplication, between related conventions, particularly the Convention to Combat Desertification, and the programmes of various international organizations, while respecting the mandates and existing programmes of work of each organization and the intergovernmental authority of the respective governing bodies;
- (d) Promote effective stakeholder participation, including the identification of priorities, in planning, in research and in monitoring and evaluating research;
- (e) Respond to national priorities through the implementation of specific activities in a flexible and demand-driven manner;
- (f) Support the development of national strategies and programmes and promote the integration of biological-diversity concerns in sectoral and cross-sectoral plans, programmes and policies, in furtherance of Article 6 of the Convention on Biological Diversity, in seeking harmonization and avoiding duplication when undertaking activities relevant to other related conventions, in particular the United Nations Convention to Combat Desertification.
- 3. The elaboration and implementation of the programme of work should aim at applying the ecosystem approach adopted under the Convention on Biological Diversity. Implementation of the programme of work will also build upon the knowledge, innovations and practices of indigenous and local communities consistent with Article 8(j) of the Convention.

II. PROPOSED PROGRAMME OF WORK

4. The proposed programme of work is divided in two parts, "Assessments" and "Targeted actions in response to identified needs", to be implemented in parallel. Knowledge gained through the assessments will help guide the responses needed, while lessons learned from activities will feed back into the assessments.

Part A: Assessments

Operational objective

5. To assemble and analyse information on the state of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands and the pressures on it, to disseminate existing knowledge and best practices, and to fill knowledge gaps, in order to determine adequate activities.

<u>Rationale</u>

6. Ecosystems of dry and sub-humid lands tend to be naturally highly dynamic systems. Assessment of the status and trends of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands is therefore particularly challenging. A better understanding of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands, their dynamics, their socio-economic value and the consequences of their loss and change is needed. This also includes the merits of short-term adaptive management practices compared with long-term management planning. This should not, however, be seen as a prerequisite for targeted actions for the conservation and sustainable use of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands. Indeed, lessons learned from practices, including indigenous and local communities practices, contribute to the knowledge base.

<u>Activities</u>

- $\underline{\text{Activity 1}}$. Assessment of the status and trends of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands, including landraces, and the effectiveness of conservation measures.
- Activity 2. Identification of specific areas within dry and sub-humid lands of particular value for biological diversity and/or under particular threat, such as, <u>inter alia</u>, endemic species and low lying wetlands, with reference to the criteria in Annex I to the Convention on Biological Diversity.
- Activity 3. Further development of indicators of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands and its loss, for use in the assessment of status and trends of this biological diversity.
- <u>Activity 4</u>. Building knowledge on ecological, physical and social processes that affect the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands, especially ecosystem structure and functioning (e.g., grazing, droughts, floods, fires, tourism, agricultural conversion or abandonment).
- Activity 5. Identification of the local and global benefits derived from the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands, and assessment of the socio-economic impact of its loss.
- <u>Activity 6</u>. Identification and dissemination of best management practices, including knowledge, innovations and practices of indigenous and local communities that can be broadly applied.

Ways and means

- 7. The activities of part A are to be carried out through:
- (a) Consolidation of information from various ongoing sources, including those under the Convention to Combat Desertification and other international conventions, the Global Observing Systems, and other programmes. This process would draw upon ongoing work of these existing programmes, with additional catalytic activities, such as workshops, further use of the clearing-house mechanism under the Convention on Biological Diversity, and partnerships between organizations, including, where appropriate, joint activities of the secretariats of the Convention on Biological Diversity and of the Convention to Combat Desertification;

- (b) Targeted research, including existing programmes of international and national research centres and research systems and other relevant international or regional programmes, with additional funding for priority work needed to overcome barriers to the conservation and sustainable use of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands;
- (c) Case-studies on management practices, carried out primarily by national and regional institutions, including civil-society organizations and research institutions, with support from international organizations for catalysing the preparation of studies, mobilizing funds, disseminating results, and facilitating feedback and lessons learned to case-study providers and policy makers. New resources could be needed to promote such studies to analyse the results and to provide necessary capacity-building and human-resource development;
- (d) Dissemination of information and capacity-building required by assessment activities.

Part B: Targeted actions in response to identified needs

Operational objective

8. To promote the conservation of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands, the sustainable use of its components and the fair and equitable sharing of the benefits arising out of the utilization of its genetic resources, and to combat the loss of biological diversity in dry and sub-humid lands and its socio-economic consequences.

<u>Rationale</u>

- 9. The activity needed to promote the conservation and sustainable use of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands will depend on the state of the dry and sub-humid lands resources and the nature of the threats. Hence, a range of options needs to be considered, from sustainable use to \underline{in} \underline{situ} and \underline{ex} \underline{situ} conservation.
- 10. Many dry and sub-humid land resources must be managed at the level of watersheds, or at higher spatial levels, implying community or inter-community, rather than individual, management. This is often further complicated by multiple user groups (e.g., agriculturalists, pastoralists and fisherfolk) and the migratory habits of some animal species and users of biological diversity. Institutions need to be developed or strengthened to provide for biological diversity management at the appropriate scale and for conflict resolution.
- 11. Sustainable use of biological diversity in dry and sub-humid lands may require the development of alternative livelihoods, and the creation of markets and other incentives to enable and promote responsible use.

<u>Activities</u>

Activity 7. Promotion of specific measures for the conservation and sustainable use of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands, through, <u>inter alia</u>:

- (a) The use and the establishment of additional protected areas and the development of further specific measures for the conservation of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands, including the strengthening of measures in existing protected areas; investments in the development and promotion of sustainable livelihoods, including alternative livelihoods, and conservation measures;
- (b) The rehabilitation or restoration of the biological diversity of degraded dry and sub-humid lands;
 - (c) The management of invasive alien species;
- (d) The sustainable management of dry and sub-humid land production systems;
- (e) Where necessary, the conservation <u>in situ</u> as well as <u>ex situ</u>, as a complement to the latter, of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands, taking due account of better understanding of climate variability in developing effective <u>in situ</u> biological conservation strategies;
- (f) The economic valuation of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands, as well as the development and the use of economic instruments and the promotion of the introduction of new technologies that enhance productivity of dry and sub-humid lands ecosystems;
- (g) The sustainable harvesting of plant biomass and appropriate forms of animal husbandry that take into account their natural potential and limitations as well as socio-economic factors and, on the other hand, sustainable pastoralism;
- (h) The establishment and promotion of educational and public-awareness programmes;
- (i) The facilitation and improvement of the availability, the accessibility and exchange of information on sustainable use of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands;
- (j) The establishment and promotion of research and development programmes with a focus on, <u>inter alia</u>, building local capacity for effective conservation and sustainable use of the biological diversity of dry and subhumid lands;
- (k) The cooperation with the Ramsar Convention on Wetlands of International Importance especially as Waterfowl Habitat and the Convention on the Conservation of Migratory Species of Wild Animals with regard to, interalia, the creation of migratory-species corridors across dry and sub-humid lands during seasonal periods, as well as with the Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of World Fauna and Flora (CITES) with regard to rare and endangered species in dry and sub-humid lands;
- (1) Cooperation with all relevant conventions, in particular with the Convention to Combat Desertification with respect to, <u>inter alia</u>, the sustainable use of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands, the ecosystem approach, the assessment of the status and trends of this biological diversity as well as to its threats.

- <u>Activity 8</u>. Promotion of responsible resource management, at appropriate levels, applying the ecosystem approach, through an enabling policy environment, including, <u>inter alia</u>:
- (a) Decentralization of management to the lowest level, as appropriate, keeping in mind the need for common resource management and with due consideration to, <u>inter alia</u>, involving indigenous and local communities in planning and managing projects;
- (b) Creating or strengthening appropriate institutions for land tenure and conflict resolution;
- (c) Encouraging bilateral and subregional cooperation to address transboundary issues (such as facilitating access to transboundary rangelands);
- (d) Harmonizing sectoral policies and instruments to promote the conservation and the sustainable use of biological diversity of dry and subhumid lands, including by, <u>inter alia</u>, taking advantage of the existing national action programmes under the Convention to Combat Desertification frameworks at the country level, as well as, as appropriate, of other existing and relevant sectoral plans and policies.

Activity 9. Support for sustainable livelihoods through, inter alia:

- (a) Diversifying sources of income to reduce the negative pressures on the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands;
 - (b) Promoting sustainable harvesting as well as ranching;
- (c) Exploring innovative sustainable uses of the biological diversity of dry and sub-humid lands for local income generation, and promoting their wider application;
- (d) Developing local markets for products derived from the sustainable use of biological diversity in dry and sub-humid lands, adding value to harvested produce; and
- (e) Promoting fair and equitable sharing of the benefits arising out of the utilization of the genetic resources of dry and sub-humid lands, including bioprospecting.

<u>Ways</u> and means

The activities of part B to be carried out through:

- (a) Capacity-building, particularly at the national and local levels, as well as investments in the development and promotion of sustainable livelihoods, including alternative livelihoods, and conservation measures, through participatory and bottom-up processes, with funding from bilateral and multilateral sources, and catalytic support from international organizations;
- (b) Establishment of an international network of designated demonstration sites to facilitate the sharing of information and experience in implementing the programme of work, as well as to demonstrate and to promote

conservation and sustainable use integration on the context of dry and subhumid lands;

- (c) Case-studies on successful management of dry and sub-humid lands that could be disseminated through, <u>inter alia</u>, the clearing-house mechanism;
- (d) Improved consultation, coordination and information-sharing, including, inter alia, documentation on knowledge and practices of indigenous and local communities, within countries among respective focal points and lead institutions relevant to the implementation of the Convention to Combat Desertification, the Convention on Biological Diversity and other relevant global conventions and programmes, facilitated by the secretariats of the various conventions and other international organizations;
- (e) Enhanced interaction between the work programmes of the Convention on Biological Diversity and the Convention to Combat Desertification, through, inter alia, the regional networks and action plans of the latter; and
- (f) Partnerships between all relevant stakeholders at all levels, including international organizations and programmes, as well as national and local partners, scientists and land users.

III. REPORTING FRAMEWORK

- 12. It is proposed that Parties and other bodies be requested to report on the implementation of the programme of work through, <u>inter alia</u>:
- (a) Appropriate sections of the national reports on biological diversity prepared for the Conference of the Parties under Article 26 of the Convention on Biological Diversity; and/or
- (b) Reports made in the context of the Convention to Combat Desertification and other relevant conventions, with due regard to, <u>interalia</u>, promoting harmonization, avoiding duplication, and enhancing transparency;
- 13. The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice is to review such reports after two years, and make recommendation for the further elaboration of the programme of work at that time. Thereafter, it is proposed that the implementation of the programme be reviewed every four years.

V/9. Agricultural biological diversity: assessment of ongoing activities and priorities for a programme of work

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice <u>recommends</u> that the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting:

- 1. <u>Endorses</u> the programme elements, contained in the annex to this recommendation, contributing to the implementation of decision III/11 of the Conference of the Parties;
- 2. <u>Urges</u> Parties, Governments, international and regional organizations, civil-society organizations and other relevant bodies to promote, and, as appropriate, carry out, the programme of work and to promote regional and thematic cooperation, as appropriate, within this framework;
- 3. <u>Considers the need</u> for arrangements to provide financial support, in accordance with Article 21 of the Convention, for activities and capacity building for the implementation of the programme of work;
- 4. Requests the Executive Secretary to invite the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations to continue to work together with other relevant bodies, and also to expand cooperation by inviting other relevant organizations (such as the United Nations Development Programme, the United Nations Environment Programme, the World Bank, regional development banks, the centres of the Consultative Group on International Agricultural Research and other international agricultural research centres, and IUCN-The World Conservation Union), in supporting the implementation of the programme of work, and to avoid duplication of activities.

<u>Annex</u>

DRAFT PROGRAMME OF WORK ON AGRICULTURAL BIODIVERSITY

A. Overall objectives, approach and guiding principles

- 1. The overall aim of the programme of work is to promote the objectives of the Convention in the area of agricultural biodiversity, in line with relevant decisions of the Conference of Parties, notably decisions II/15, III/11 and IV/6. This programme of work will also contribute to the implementation of chapter 14 of Agenda 21 (Sustainable agriculture and rural development). The scope of agricultural biodiversity is described in the appendix hereto.
- 2. More specifically, the objectives, as spelt out in paragraph 1 of decision III/11 of the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity, are:
- (a) To promote the positive effects and mitigate the negative impacts of agricultural systems and practices on biological diversity in agroecosystems and their interface with other ecosystems;
- (b) To promote the conservation and sustainable use of genetic resources of actual and potential value for food and agriculture;
- (c) To promote the fair and equitable sharing of benefits arising out of the use of genetic resources.

- 3. The proposed elements of the programme of work have been developed bearing in mind the need:
- (a) To support the development of national strategies, programmes and action plans concerning agricultural biodiversity, in line with decision III/11 of the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity, and to promote their integration in sectoral and cross-sectoral plans, programmes and policies;
- (b) To build upon existing international plans of action, programmes and strategies that have been agreed by countries, in particular, the Global Plan of Action for the Conservation and Sustainable Utilization of Plant Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture, the Global Strategy for the Management of Farm Animal Genetic Resources, and the International Plant Protection Convention (IPPC);
- (c) To ensure harmony with the other relevant programmes of work under the Convention on Biological Diversity, including those relating to forest biological diversity, inland water biological diversity, marine and coastal biological diversity, and dry and sub-humid lands, as well as with crosscutting issues such as access and benefit-sharing, sustainable use, indicators, alien species, the Global Taxonomy Initiative, and issues related to Article 8(j);
- (d) To promote synergy and coordination, and to avoid duplication, between relevant programmes of various international organizations and between programmes at the national and regional levels established under the auspices of international organizations, while respecting the mandates and existing programmes of work of each organization and the intergovernmental authority of the respective governing bodies, commissions and other forums.
- 4. In implementing the programme of work, the ecosystem approach adopted under the Convention on Biological Diversity will be applied. The application of this approach implies, inter alia, intersectoral cooperation, decentralization of management to the lowest level appropriate, equitable distribution of benefits, and the use of adaptive management policies that can deal with uncertainties and are modified in the light of experience and changing conditions. The implementation process will also build upon the knowledge, innovations and practices of local communities and thus complement Article 8(j) of the Convention. A multi-disciplinary approach that takes into account scientific, social and economic issues is required.
- 5. The proposed programme of work has been developed in the light of the basis for action annexed to decision III/11. Its implementation, particularly the implementation of programme element 1, will shed further light on the status and trends of agricultural biodiversity.

B. Proposed elements of a programme of work

6. Based on the above, the following elements for a programme of work are proposed as options to be considered by the Conference of the Parties. It is important to note that the four programme elements are intended to be mutually reinforcing: outputs of certain elements would feed into others. Accordingly, the ordering of the elements does not imply sequential implementation. However prioritization of activities within each programme element will be necessary as set out in the sections on ways and means and

timing of expected outputs. Within the framework of this programme of work, targeted cooperative initiatives may be launched. For example, an "International Pollinators Initiative" is proposed based on the recommendations of the Sao Paulo International Workshop on the Conservation and Sustainable Use of Pollinators in Agriculture, with Emphasis on Bees.

Programme element 1. Assessments

Operational objective

To provide a comprehensive analysis of status and trends of the world's agricultural biodiversity and of their underlying causes (including a focus on the goods and services agricultural biodiversity provides), as well of local knowledge of its management.

Rationale

Processes for country-driven assessments are in place, or under development, for the crop and farm-animal genetic resources components. assessments draw upon, and contribute to, comprehensive data and information systems. There is also much information about resources that provide the basis for agriculture (soil, water), and about land cover and use, climatic and agro-ecological zones. However, further assessments may be needed, for example, for microbial genetic resources, for the ecosystem services provided by agricultural biodiversity such as nutrient cycling, pest and disease regulation and pollination, and for social and economic aspects related to agricultural biodiversity. Understanding of the underlying causes of the loss of agricultural biodiversity is limited, as is understanding of the consequences of such loss for the functioning of agricultural ecosystems. Moreover, the assessments of the various components are conducted separately; there is no integrated assessment of agricultural biodiversity as a whole. There is also lack of widely accepted indicators of agricultural biodiversity and its various components. The further development and application of such indicators, as well as assessment methodologies, are necessary to allow an analysis of the status and trends of agricultural biodiversity and its various components and to facilitate the identification of biodiversity-friendly agricultural practices (see programme element 2).

<u>Activities</u>

- 1.1. Support the ongoing or planned assessments of different components of agricultural biodiversity, for example, the reports on the state of the world's plant genetic resources for food and agriculture, $\underline{2}$ / and the state of the world's animal genetic resources for food and agriculture, as well as other relevant reports and assessments by FAO and other organizations, elaborated in a country-driven manner through consultative processes.
- 1.2. Promote and develop specific assessments of additional components of agricultural biodiversity that provide ecological services, drawing upon the outputs of programme element 2. This might include targeted assessments on

 $[\]underline{2}/$ It should be noted that the FAO Commission on Genetic Resources for Food and Agriculture has decided that the second report on the state of the world's plant genetic resources will be prepared, only once the negotiations for the revision of the International Undertaking have been completed.

priority areas (for example, loss of pollinators, pest management and nutrient cycling).

- 1.3. Develop methods and techniques for assessing and monitoring the status and trends of agricultural biodiversity, including:
- (a) For a limited set of criteria, indicators of agricultural biodiversity to facilitate monitoring and assessment of the status and trends in different production systems and environments, and the impacts of various practices, building wherever possible on existing work, in accordance with SBSTTA recommendation V/11, on the development of indicators on biological diversity;
- (b) An agreed terminology and classification for agro-ecosystems and production systems to facilitate the comparison and synthesis of various assessments and monitoring of different components of agricultural biodiversity, at all levels and scales, between countries and partner organizations; $\underline{3}/$
- (c) Data and information exchange on agricultural biodiversity, in particular through the clearing-house mechanism under the Convention on Biological Diversity, building on existing networks, databases, and information systems;
- (d) Methodology for analysis of the trends of agricultural biodiversity and its underlying causes, including socio-economic causes.

Ways and means

Exchange and use of experiences, information and findings from the assessments shall be facilitated by Parties, Governments and networks with consultation between countries and institutions, including use of existing networks.

Country-driven assessments of genetic resources of importance for food and agriculture (activity 1.1) shall be implemented, including through programmes of FAO and in close collaboration with other organizations, such as CGIAR. Resources may need to be identified to support additional assessments (activity 1.2), which would draw upon elements of existing programmes of international organizations, and the outputs of programme element 2.

This programme element, particularly activity 1.3, will be supported through catalytic activities, building upon and bringing together existing programmes, in order to develop agricultural biodiversity indicators, agreed terminology, etc., through, <u>inter alia</u>, technical workshops, meetings and consultations, e-mail conferences, preparation of discussion papers, and

 $[\]underline{3}/$ This would draw upon, and not seek to replace, existing classification systems for ecosystems and farming systems (e.g. eco-region, agro-ecological zones, landscapes, land evaluation systems, production systems/environments, farming systems and farm typologies, etc.), taking into account physical resources (air, climate, land, water, vegetation types), human resource attributes (population intensity, land-use pressures, settlement patterns), and degree of market integration.

travel. Funding of these catalytic activities would be through the Secretariat, with in-kind contributions from participating organizations.

Timing of expected outputs

A key set of standard questions and a menu of potential indicators of agricultural biodiversity that may be used by Parties at their national level, and agreed terminology of production environments by 2002.

Reports on the state of the world's genetic resources, as programmed, leading progressively towards a comprehensive assessment and understanding of agricultural biodiversity, with a focus on the goods and services it provides, by 2010.

Programme element 2. Adaptive management

Operational objective

To identify management practices, technologies and policies that promote the positive and mitigate the negative impacts of agriculture on biodiversity, and enhance productivity and the capacity to sustain livelihoods, by expanding knowledge, understanding and awareness of the multiple goods and services provided by the different levels and functions of agricultural biodiversity.

<u>Rationale</u>

There are large and fairly well-defined research agendas for genetic resources for food and agriculture. These include the development of complementary conservation and use strategies, and a focus on developing the conservation and use of under-utilized species. There are also an increasing number of case-studies on, for example, farm and in situ conservation of genetic resources, and community integrated pest management. However, far more understanding is needed of the multiple functions of biodiversity in production systems. Much more research is needed, for example, to examine the relationship between diversity, resilience and production in agro-ecosystems.

A blend of traditional and newer practices and technologies is used in agriculture, which utilize, or impact on, agricultural biodiversity in different ways, with particular consequences for biological diversity and for the sustainability and productivity of agricultural systems. A better understanding and application of these complex interactions could help to optimize the management of agricultural biodiversity in production systems.

Such work is essential in order to meet the objectives of decision III/11 of the Conference of the Parties to promote the positive and mitigate the negative impacts of agriculture on biological diversity, and enhance productivity and capacity to sustain livelihoods.

<u>Activities</u>

- 2.1. Carry out a series of case-studies, in a range of environments and production systems, and in each region:
- (a) To identify key goods and services provided by agricultural biodiversity, needs for the conservation and sustainable use of components of

this biological diversity in agricultural ecosystems, and threats to such diversity;

- (b) To identify best management practices; and
- (c) To monitor and assess the actual and potential impacts of existing and new agricultural technologies.

This activity would address the functions of agricultural biodiversity and the interaction between the various components, as set out in the appendix hereto with a focus on certain specific and cross-cutting issues, such as:

- (a) The role and potential of wild, under-utilized and neglected species and products;
- (b) The role of genetic diversity in providing resilience, reducing vulnerability, and enhancing adaptability of production systems to changing environments and needs;
- (c) The synergies and interactions between different components of agricultural biodiversity;
- (d) The role of pollinators, with particular reference to their economic benefits, and the effects of introduced species on indigenous pollinators and other aspects of biological diversity;
- (e) The role of soil and other below-ground biodiversity in supporting agricultural production systems, especially in nutrient cycling;
- (f) Pest and disease control mechanisms, including the role of natural enemies and other organisms at field and landscape levels, host plant resistance, and implications for agro-ecosystem management;
- (g) The wider ecosystem services provided by agricultural biodiversity;
- (h) The role of different temporal and spatial patterns in mosaics of land use, including complexes of different habitats;
- (i) Possibilities of integrated landscape management as a means for the conservation and sustainable use of biodiversity.
- 2.2. Identify and promote the dissemination of information on cost-effective practices and technologies, and related policy and incentive measures that enhance the positive and mitigate the negative impacts of agriculture on biological diversity, productivity and capacity to sustain livelihoods, through:
- (a) Comprehensive analyses in selected production systems of the costs and benefits of alternative management practices as identified from activity 2.1, and the valuation of the goods and services provided by agricultural biodiversity;
- (b) Comprehensive analyses of the impacts of agricultural production, including their intensification and extensification, on the environment and identification of ways to mitigate negative and promote positive impacts;

- (c) Identification, at international and national levels, in close collaboration with relevant international organizations, of appropriate marketing and trade policies, legal and economic measures which may support beneficial practices:
 - (i) Promotion of neglected and under-utilized crops;
 - (ii) Promotion of local and indigenous knowledge;
 - (iii) Measures to add value to products of production systems that sustain biodiversity, and to diversify market opportunities;
 - (iv) Access and benefit-sharing measures and intellectual property
 issues;
 - (v) Economically and socially sound measures that act as incentives, in accordance with Article 11 and consistent with Article 22; and
 - (vi) Training and capacity-building in support of the above.

Ways and means

Case-studies will be carried out by national institutions, civil-society organizations, and research institutes, with support from international organizations for catalysing preparation of studies, mobilizing funds, disseminating results, and facilitating feedback and lessons learned to case-study providers and policy makers. Resources may need to be identified to promote such studies, to analyse the results and to provide necessary capacity-building and human-resource development, especially at the intercommunity or district level. Where a need is identified, for example, through lessons learned from earlier case-studies, the Subsidiary Body on Technical, Technological Advice or the Conference of the Parties will be consulted to consider the promotion of regional or global programmes of case-studies, or focused research activities.

Timing of expected outputs

Thirty selected case-studies published, analysed and disseminated by 2005. The case-studies should be representative of regional issues and prioritize best practices and lessons learned that can be broadly applied.

Programme element 3. Capacity-building

Operational objective

To strengthen the capacities of farmers, their communities, and organizations and other stakeholders, including agro-enterprises, to manage agricultural biodiversity so as to increase the benefits they derive from the sustainable use of agricultural biodiversity, and to promote increased awareness and responsible action.

<u>Rationale</u>

The management of agricultural biodiversity involves many stakeholders and often implies transfers of costs and benefits between stakeholder groups.

It is therefore essential that mechanisms be developed not only to consult stakeholder groups, but also to facilitate their genuine participation in decision-making and in the sharing of benefits.

The sustainable management of agricultural biodiversity by farmers and their communities, in particular, is a prerequisite to achieving sustainable increases in food and livelihood security and to protecting natural resources. Decision III/11, paragraph 17 (c), of the Conference of the Parties encourages Parties to promote the "mobilization of farming communities, including indigenous and local communities for the development, maintenance and use of their knowledge and practices in the conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity in the agricultural sector". By paragraph 15 of the same decision, countries are encouraged "to set up and maintain local-level forums for farmers, researchers, extension workers and other stakeholders to evolve genuine partnerships". There is a largely unrealized potential to improve the management of various aspects of agricultural biodiversity at the level of the agro-ecosystem, through, for example, participatory breeding and selection strategies. Farmer groups, and other producer organizations, can be instrumental in furthering the interests of farmers in optimizing sustainable, diversified, production systems and consequently in promoting responsible actions concerning the conservation and sustainable use of agricultural biodiversity. Consumer organizations are also increasingly influential in this regard.

<u>Activities</u>

- 3.1 Promote enhanced capabilities to manage agricultural biodiversity by promoting partnerships among researchers, extension workers and farmers in research and development programmes for biological diversity conservation and sustainable use of biological diversity in agriculture. To achieve this, countries should be encouraged to set up and maintain, <u>inter alia</u>, local level forums for farmers, including indigenous farmers using traditional knowledge, researchers, extension workers and other stakeholders to evolve genuine partnerships, including training and education programmes.
- 3.2 Enhance the capacity of indigenous and local communities for the development of strategies and methodologies for <u>in situ</u> conservation, sustainable use and management of agricultural biological diversity, building on indigenous knowledge systems.
- 3.3. Provide opportunities for farmers and local communities, and other stakeholder groups, to participate in the development and implementation of national strategies, plans and programmes for agricultural biodiversity, through decentralized policies and plans, and local government structures.
- 3.4. Identify and promote possible improvements in the policy environment, including benefit-sharing arrangements and incentive measures, to support local-level management of agricultural biodiversity.
- 3.5 Promote awareness about the value and functions of agricultural biodiversity for sustainable productivity amongst producer organizations, agricultural cooperatives and enterprises, and consumers, with a view to promoting responsible practices.
- 3.6 Promote networks of farmers and farmers' organizations at regional level for exchange of information and experiences.

Ways and means

This programme element is to be implemented primarily through initiatives within countries, including through extension services, local government, educational and civil-society organizations, including farmer/producer and consumer organizations and mechanisms emphasizing farmer-farmer exchange. This programme element would engage the widest possible range of civil-society organizations, including those not normally linked to biodiversity initiatives.

Funding is likely to be on a project or programme basis. Catalytic support may need to be provided through national, regional and global programmes, organizations, facilities and funding mechanisms, in particular to support capacity-building, exchange and feedback of policy and market information, and of lessons learned from this and programme element 2, between local organizations and policy makers, nationally, regionally and globally.

Timing of expected outputs

Progressive establishment of local-level forums and regional networks, with a coverage target of at least 1,000 communities by 2010.

Examples at country level of operational mechanisms for participation by a wide range of stakeholder groups including civil-society organizations, by 2002.

Involvement of farmers and local communities in the majority of national programmes by 2010.

Programme element 4. Mainstreaming

Operational objective

To support the development of national plans or strategies for the conservation and sustainable use of agricultural biodiversity and to promote their mainstreaming and integration in sectoral and cross-sectoral plans and programmes.

<u>Rationale</u>

Many countries are now developing biodiversity strategies and action plans in the context of the Convention on Biological Diversity, and many also have a number of other policies, strategies and plans related to agriculture, the environment and national development. $\underline{4}/$ Moreover, countries have agreed on global action plans for major components of biological diversity, such as plant genetic resources for food and agriculture, and, in Agenda 21 and the World Food Summit Plan of Action, on plans for sustainable development and food security in general.

In most countries, activities related to agricultural biodiversity are undertaken primarily by ministries responsible for agriculture. There is

 $[\]underline{4}/$ These include agricultural sector plans, national environment action plans, national sustainable development strategies, national forestry action plans, World Bank plans for structural adjustment, etc.

clearly a need to mainstream the action plans for components of agricultural biodiversity in sectoral development plans concerned with food, agriculture, forestry and fisheries, and to promote synergy and avoid duplication between the plans for the various components. Together with other thematic programmes of work, this could contribute to the integration of biodiversity considerations in national plans.

Development and implementation of action plans requires reliable and accessible information, but many countries do not have well developed information, communication or early-warning systems or the capacity to respond to identified threats.

<u>Activities</u>

- 4.1. Support the institutional framework and policy and planning mechanisms for the mainstreaming of agricultural biodiversity in agricultural strategies and action plans, and its integration into wider strategies and plans for biological diversity, through:
- (a) Support for relevant institutions in the conduct of assessments on the status and trends of agricultural biodiversity within the context of ongoing biodiversity and sectoral assessments;
- (b) Development of policy and planning guidelines, and training materials, and support for capacity-building initiatives at policy, technical and local levels in agricultural and environmental forums for the development, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of policies, programmes and actions for the conservation and sustainable use of agricultural biodiversity; and
- (c) Improved consultation, coordination, and information-sharing within countries among respective focal points and lead institutions, relevant technical committees and coordinating bodies, to promote synergy in the implementation of agreed plans of action and between ongoing assessments and intergovernmental processes.
- 4.2. Support the development or adaptation of relevant systems of information, early warning and communication to enable effective assessment of the state of agricultural biodiversity and threats to it, in support of national strategies and action plans, and of appropriate response mechanisms.
- 4.3. Promote public awareness of the goods and services provided by agricultural biological diversity, and the value and importance of such diversity for agriculture and for society in general.
- 4.4. Promote ongoing and planned activities for the conservation, on farm, $\underline{\text{in situ}}$, and $\underline{\text{ex situ}}$, in particular, in the countries of origin, of the variability of genetic resources for food and agriculture, including their wild relatives.

Ways and means

Activities would be implemented primarily at national level through enhanced communication, coordination mechanisms and planning processes that involve all stakeholder groups, facilitated by international organizations, and by funding mechanisms.

This programme element should draw upon the experience of ongoing programmes (such as UNEP's support to national biodiversity strategies and action plans) and a critical analysis of existing practice.

National, regional and international projects and programmes that address policy and institutional development within specific sectors should make provision, as appropriate, for integration across sectors. Similarly, the development of guidelines should be carried out within the context of the objectives of this programme element.

Resources may need to be identified to further develop or adapt early-warning systems, including the capacity to identify thresholds and action needed, and for pilot examples of effective and sustainable response mechanisms to address threats at local, national and supranational levels.

Timing of expected outputs

Progressively increased capacity at national level for information management, assessment and communication. Over 100 countries to participate in various assessments under activities 1.1 and 1.2 by 2005.

Coordination between sectoral assessments and plans of action at national level in the majority of countries by 2005.

Range of guidelines published at the international level (on topics to be determined according to needs at national and regional levels).

Appendix

THE SCOPE OF AGRICULTURAL BIODIVERSITY

- 1. Agricultural biodiversity is a broad term that includes all components of biological diversity of relevance to food and agriculture, and all components of biological diversity that constitute the agro-ecosystem: the variety and variability of animals, plants and micro-organisms, at the genetic, species and ecosystem levels, which are necessary to sustain key functions of the agro-ecosystem, its structure and processes, in accordance with annex I of decision III/11 of the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity.
- 2. The Conference of Parties has recognized "the special nature of agricultural biodiversity, its distinctive features, and problems needing distinctive solutions". $\underline{5}$ / The distinctive features include the following:
- (a) Agricultural biodiversity is essential to satisfy basic human needs for food and livelihood security;
- (b) Agricultural biodiversity is managed by farmers; many components of agricultural biodiversity depend on this human influence; indigenous knowledge and culture are integral parts of the management of agricultural biodiversity;

 $[\]underline{5}/$ See decision II/15 of the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity.

- (c) There is a great interdependence between countries for the genetic resources for food and agriculture;
- (d) For crops and domestic animals, diversity within species is at least as important as diversity between species and has been greatly expanded through agriculture;
- (e) Because of the degree of human management of agricultural biodiversity, its conservation in production systems is inherently linked to sustainable use;
- (f) Nonetheless, much biological diversity is now conserved <u>ex situ</u> in gene banks or breeders' materials;
- (g) The interaction between the environment, genetic resources and management practices that occurs <u>in situ</u> within agro-ecosystems often contributes to maintaining a dynamic portfolio of agricultural biodiversity.
- 3. The following dimensions of agricultural biodiversity can be identified:
 - (a) Genetic resources for food and agriculture, including:
 - (i) Plant genetic resources including pasture and rangeland species and forest genetic resources; <u>6</u>/
 - (ii) Animal genetic resources, including fishery genetic resources; 7/
 - (iii) Microbial and fungal genetic resources.

These constitute the main units of production in agriculture, including cultivated species, domesticated species and managed wild plants and animals;

- (b) Components of agricultural biodiversity that provide ecological services. These include a diverse range of organisms in agricultural production systems that contribute, at various scales to, <u>inter alia</u>:
 - (i) Nutrient cycling, decomposition of organic matter and maintenance of soil fertility;
 - (ii) Pest and disease regulation;
 - (iii) Pollination;
 - (iv) Maintainance and enhancement of local wildlife and habitats in their landscape,

 $[\]underline{6}$ / Forest genetic resources are considered under the work programme on forest biodiversity. For the purpose of the present programme of work, the focus is on trees that are an integral part of farming systems.

 $[\]underline{7}/$ Aspects of fishery genetic resources may be considered under the work programmes on inland waters and marine and coastal biodiversity. For the purposes of the present programme of work, the focus is on fish production that is part of farming systems.

- (v) Maintainance of the hydrological cycle;
- (vi) Erosion control;
- (vii) Climate regulation and carbon sequestration;
- (c) Abiotic factors, which have a determining effect on these aspects of agricultural biodiversity;
- (d) Socio-economic and cultural dimensions since agricultural biodiversity is largely shaped by human activities and management practices. These include:
 - (i) Traditional and local knowledge of agricultural biodiversity, cultural factors and participatory processes;
 - (ii) Tourism associated with agricultural landscapes;
 - (iii) Other socio-economic factors.

V/10. Ecosystem approach: further conceptual elaboration

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice recommends that the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting:

- 1. <u>Calls upon</u> Parties, other Governments, and international organizations to apply the ecosystem approach, in line with the principles and guidance contained in the annex to the present recommendation, in particular in the context of activities developed within the thematic areas of the Convention, and national policies and legislation;
- 2. <u>Endorses</u> these principles and guidance, as reflecting the present level of common understanding and <u>encourages</u> further conceptual elaboration;
- 3. <u>Invites</u> Parties, other Governments and relevant bodies to identify case-studies and implement pilot projects, and to organize, as appropriate, regional, national and local workshops, and consultations aiming to enhance awareness, share experiences, including through the clearing-house mechanism, and strengthen regional, national and local capacities on the ecosystem approach;
- 4. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary to prepare a synthesis of case-studies and lessons learned;
- 5. <u>Requests</u> the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice to prepare guidelines for the implementation of the ecosystem approach, on the basis of case-studies and lessons learned, and to review the incorporation of the ecosystem approach into various programmes of work of the Convention; and
- 6. <u>Addresses</u> the need for support for capacity-building to implement the ecosystem approach.

Annex

A. Description of the ecosystem approach

- 1. The ecosystem approach is a strategy for the integrated management of land, water and living resources that promotes conservation and sustainable use in an equitable way. Thus, the application of the ecosystem approach will help to reach a balance of the three objectives of the Convention: conservation; sustainable use; and the fair and equitable sharing of the benefits arising out of the utilization of genetic resources.
- 2. An ecosystem approach is based on the application of appropriate scientific methodologies focused on levels of biological organization, which encompass the essential structure, processes, functions and interactions among organisms and their environment. It recognizes that humans, with their cultural diversity, are an integral component of many ecosystems.
- 3. This focus on structure, processes, functions and interactions is consistent with the definition of "ecosystem" provided in Article 2 of the Convention on Biological Diversity:

"'<u>Ecosystem</u>' means a dynamic complex of plant, animal and microorganism communities and their non-living environment interacting as a functional unit."

This definition does not specify any particular spatial unit or scale, in contrast to the Convention definition of "habitat". Thus, the term "ecosystem" does not, necessarily, correspond to the terms "biome" or "ecological zone", but can refer to any functioning unit at any scale. Indeed, the scale of analysis and action should be determined by the problem being addressed. It could, for example, be a grain of soil, a pond, a forest, a biome or the entire biosphere.

- 4. The ecosystem approach requires adaptive management to deal with the complex and dynamic nature of ecosystems and the absence of complete knowledge or understanding of their functioning. Ecosystem processes are often non-linear, and the outcome of such processes often shows time-lags. The result is discontinuities, leading to surprise and uncertainty. Management must be adaptive in order to be able to respond to such uncertainties and contain elements of "learning-by-doing" or research feedback. Measures may need to be taken even when some cause-and-effect relationships are not yet fully established scientifically.
- 5. The ecosystem approach does not preclude other management and conservation approaches, such as biosphere reserves, protected areas, and single-species conservation programmes, as well as other approaches carried out under existing national policy and legislative frameworks, but could, rather, integrate all these approaches and other methodologies to deal with complex situations. There is no single way to implement the ecosystem approach, as it depends on local, provincial, national, regional or global conditions. Indeed, there are many ways in which ecosystem approaches may be used as the framework for delivering the objectives of the Convention in practice.

B. Principles of the ecosystem approach

6. The following 12 principles are complementary and interlinked, and need to be applied as a whole.

Principle 1: The objectives of management of land, water and living resources are a matter of societal choice.

Different sectors of society view ecosystems in terms of their own economic, cultural and societal needs. Indigenous peoples and other local communities living on the land are important stakeholders and their rights and interests should be recognized. Both cultural and biological diversity are central components of the ecosystem approach, and management should take this into account. Societal choices should be expressed as clearly as possible. Ecosystems should be managed for their intrinsic values and for the tangible or intangible benefits for humans, in a fair and equitable way.

Principle 2: Management should be decentralized to the lowest appropriate level.

Rationale: Decentralized systems may lead to greater efficiency, effectiveness and equity. Management should involve all

stakeholders and balance local interests with the wider public interest. The closer management is to the ecosystem, the greater the responsibility, ownership, accountability, participation, and use of local knowledge.

Principle 3: Ecosystem managers should consider the effects (actual or potential) of their activities on adjacent and other ecosystems.

Rationale: Management interventions in ecosystems often have unknown or unpredictable effects on other ecosystems; therefore, possible impacts need careful consideration and analysis. This may require new arrangements or ways of organization for institutions involved in decision-making to make, if necessary, appropriate compromises.

Principle 4: Recognizing potential gains from management, there is usually a need to understand and manage the ecosystem in an economic context. Any such ecosystem-management programme should:

- (a) Reduce those market distortions that adversely affect biological diversity;
- (b) Align incentives to promote biodiversity conservation and sustainable use;
- (c) Internalize costs and benefits in the given ecosystem to the extent feasible.

<u>Rationale</u>:

The greatest threat to biological diversity lies in its replacement by alternative systems of land use. This often arises through market distortions, which undervalue natural systems and populations and provide perverse incentives and subsidies to favour the conversion of land to less diverse systems.

Often those who benefit from conservation do not pay the costs associated with conservation and, similarly, those who generate environmental costs (e.g. pollution) escape responsibility. Alignment of incentives allows those who control the resource to benefit and ensures that those who generate environmental costs will pay.

Principle 5: Conservation of ecosystem structure and functioning, in order to maintain ecosystem services, should be a priority target of the ecosystem approach.

Rationale:

Ecosystem functioning and resilience depends on a dynamic relationship within species, among species and between species and their abiotic environment, as well as the physical and chemical interactions within the environment. The conservation and, where appropriate, restoration of these interactions and processes is of greater significance for the long-term maintenance of biological diversity than simply protection of species.

Principle 6: Ecosystems must be managed within the limits of their functioning.

Rationale: In considering the likelihood or ease of attaining the management objectives, attention should be given to the environmental conditions that limit natural productivity, ecosystem structure, functioning and diversity. The limits to ecosystem functioning may be affected to different degrees by temporary, unpredictable or artificially maintained conditions and, accordingly, management should be appropriately cautious.

Principle 7: The ecosystem approach should be undertaken at the appropriate spatial and temporal scales.

Rationale: The approach should be bounded by spatial and temporal scales that are appropriate to the objectives. Boundaries for management will be defined operationally by users, managers, scientists and indigenous and local peoples. Connectivity between areas should be promoted where necessary. The ecosystem approach is based upon the hierarchical nature of biological diversity characterized by the interaction and integration of genes, species and ecosystems.

Principle 8: Recognizing the varying temporal scales and lag-effects that characterize ecosystem processes, objectives for ecosystem management should be set for the long term.

Rationale: Ecosystem processes are characterized by varying temporal scales and lag-effects. This inherently conflicts with the tendency of humans to favour short-term gains and immediate benefits over future ones.

Principle 9: Management must recognize the change is inevitable.

Ecosystems change, including species composition and population abundance. Hence, management should adapt to the changes. Apart from their inherent dynamics of change, ecosystems are beset by a complex of uncertainties and potential "surprises" in the human, biological and environmental realms. Traditional disturbance regimes may be important for ecosystem structure and functioning, and may need to be maintained or restored. The ecosystem approach must utilize adaptive management in order to anticipate and cater for such changes and events and should be cautious in making any decision that may foreclose options, but, at the same time, consider mitigating actions to cope with long-term changes such as climate change.

Principle 10: The ecosystem approach should seek the appropriate balance between, and integration of, conservation and use of biological diversity.

Rationale:

Biological diversity is critical both for its intrinsic value and because of the key role it plays in providing the ecosystem and other services upon which we all ultimately depend. There has been a tendency in the past to manage components of biological diversity either as protected or non-protected. There is a need for a shift to more flexible situations, where conservation and use are seen in context and

the full range of measures is applied in a continuum from strictly protected to human-made ecosystems.

Principle 11: The ecosystem approach should consider all forms of relevant information, including scientific and indigenous and local knowledge, innovations and practices.

Rationale: Information from all sources is critical to arriving at effective ecosystem management strategies. A much better knowledge of ecosystem functions and the impact of human use is desirable. All relevant information from any concerned area should be shared with all stakeholders and actors, taking into account, inter alia, any decision to be taken under Article 8(j) of the Convention on Biological Diversity. Assumptions behind proposed management decisions should be made explicit and checked against available knowledge and views of stakeholders.

Principle 12: The ecosystem approach should involve all relevant sectors of society and scientific disciplines.

<u>Rationale</u>: Most problems of biological-diversity management are complex, with many interactions, side-effects and implications, and therefore should involve the necessary expertise and stakeholders at the local, national, regional and international level, as appropriate.

- C. Operational quidance for application of the ecosystem approach
- 7. In applying the 12 principles of the ecosystem approach, the following five points are proposed as operational guidance.
 - 1. Focus on the functional relationships and processes within ecosystems
- 8. The many components of biodiversity control the stores and flows of energy, water and nutrients within ecosystems, and provide resistance to major perturbations. A much better knowledge of ecosystem functions and structure, and the roles of the components of biological diversity in ecosystems, is required, especially to understand: (i) ecosystem resilience and the effects of biodiversity loss (species and genetic levels) and habitat fragmentation; and (ii) determinants of local biological diversity in management decisions. Functional biodiversity in ecosystems provides many goods and services of economic and social importance. While there is a need to accelerate efforts to gain new knowledge about functional biodiversity, ecosystem management has to be carried out even in the absence of such knowledge. The ecosystem approach can facilitate practical management by ecosystem managers (whether local communities or national policy makers).
 - 2. Promote the fair and equitable access to the benefits derived from the functions of biological diversity in ecosystems and from the use of its components
- 9. Benefits that flow from the array of functions provided by biological diversity at the ecosystem level provide the basis of human environmental security and sustainability. The ecosystem approach seeks that the benefits derived from these functions are distributed equitably. In particular, these functions should benefit the stakeholders responsible for their production and

management. This requires, <u>inter alia</u>: capacity-building, especially at the level of local communities managing biological diversity in ecosystems; the proper valuation of ecosystem goods and services; the removal of perverse incentives that devalue ecosystem goods and services; and, consistent with the provisions of the Convention on Biological Diversity, where appropriate, their replacement with local incentives for good management practices.

3. <u>Use adaptive management practices</u>

Ecosystem processes and functions are complex and variable. Their level of uncertainty is increased by the interaction with social constructs, which need to be better understood. Therefore, ecosystem management must involve a learning process, which helps to adapt methodologies and practices to the ways in which these systems are being managed and monitored. Implementation programmes should be designed to adjust to the unexpected, rather than to act on the basis of a belief in certainties. Ecosystem management needs to recognize the diversity of social and cultural factors affecting naturalresource use. Similarly, there is a need for flexibility in policy-making and implementation. Long-term, inflexible decisions are likely to be inadequate or even destructive. Ecosystem management should be envisaged as a long-term experiment that builds on its results as it progresses. This "learning-bydoing" will also serve as an important source of information to gain knowledge of how best to monitor the results of management and evaluate whether established goals are being attained. In this respect, it would be desirable to establish or strengthen capacities of Parties for monitoring.

4. Carry out management actions at the scale appropriate for the issue being addressed, with decentralization to lowest level, as appropriate

11. As noted in section A above, an ecosystem is a functioning unit that can operate at any scale, depending upon the problem or issue being addressed. This understanding should define the appropriate level for management decisions and actions. Often, this approach will imply decentralization to the level of local communities. Effective decentralization requires proper empowerment, which implies that the stakeholder both has the opportunity to assume responsibility and the capacity to carry out the appropriate action, and needs to be supported by enabling policy and legislative frameworks. Where common property resources are involved, the most appropriate scale for management decisions and actions would necessarily be large enough to encompass the effects of practices by all the relevant stakeholders. Appropriate institutions would be required for such decision-making and, where necessary, for conflict resolution. Some problems and issues may require action at still higher levels, through, for example, transboundary cooperation, or even cooperation at global levels.

5. Ensure intersectoral cooperation

12. As the primary framework of action to be taken under the Convention, the ecosystem approach should be fully taken into account in developing and reviewing national biodiversity strategies and action plans. There is also a need to integrate the ecosystem approach into agriculture, fisheries, forestry and other production systems that have an effect on biodiversity. Management of natural resources, according to the ecosystem approach, calls for increased intersectoral communication and cooperation at a range of levels (government ministries, management agencies, etc.). This might be promoted through, for

example, the formation of inter-ministerial bodies within the Government or the creation of networks for sharing information and experience.

D. Other remarks

- 13. The ecosystem approach should be applied in each of the thematic and cross-cutting work programmes of the Convention, based upon the 12 principles and using the five points of operational guidance derived therefrom.
- 14. The application of the ecosystem approach can help to promote delivery to people of the full array of benefits derived from the functions of biological diversity at the ecosystem level. Lessons learned from casestudies on the ecosystem approach that take into account the three objectives of the Convention should be widely promoted.

V/11. Development of indicators of biological diversity

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice,

Acknowledging that the process of indicator development has to be continued at a high speed in order to allow for coordination with, and input to actions and initiatives such as the national reports, the Global Biodiversity Outlook, the Global International Waters Assessment, the assessment process under the Convention on Biological Diversity and many others that develop or use indicators,

<u>Acknowledging</u> that a pragmatic approach is needed and must be based on sound theory and practical experience,

Recommends that the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting:

- 1. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary, in broad consultation with Parties and in collaboration with other relevant organizations/bodies and processes, to carry out the pending activities set out in the work programme on indicators of biological diversity as approved by decision IV/1 A of the Conference of the Parties and, in particular, to develop:
- (a) A set of principles for designing national-level monitoring programmes and indicators;
- (b) A key set of standard questions and a list of available and potential indicators that may be used by Parties at their national level and in national reporting also to allow for regional and global overviews on the state and trends of biodiversity and, if possible and appropriate, any responses from policy measures;
- 2. Encourages Parties and Governments to establish or increase regional cooperation in the field of indicators, monitoring and assessment and Invites the Executive Secretary to establish a process through which the documents mentioned above are reviewed and broadly discussed at regional workshops on the basis of national case-studies;
- 3. Invites Parties, Governments and organizations to undertake appropriate actions to assist other Parties (particularly developing countries) to increase their capacity to develop and use indicators. Appropriate actions may include:
 - (a) Provision of training;
 - (b) Assisting in the development of national networks;
- (c) Sharing experiences between and among countries, regions and organizations involved in the development and use of indicators;
- 4. Requests the Executive Secretary to produce an interim report on progress for consideration by the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice at its sixth or seventh meetings and a final report on the conclusions of this initiative to the Conference of the Parties at its sixth meeting.

V/12. <u>Sustainable use of the components of biological diversity:</u>
<u>identification of sectoral activities that could adopt</u>
biodiversity-friendly practices and technologies

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice recommends that the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting:

- 1. Reminds Parties to integrate, as far as possible and as appropriate, the sustainable use of biological diversity into their relevant sectoral or cross-sectoral plans, programmes, policies and national biodiversity strategies and action plans, in accordance with Articles 6(b) and 10 of the Convention, and taking into account the decisions of the Conference of the Parties and the principles of the ecosystem approach;
- 2. Requests the Executive Secretary to gather, compile and disseminate through the clearing-house mechanism and other means, case-studies on best practices and lessons learned from the use of biological diversity under the thematic areas of the Convention, drawing on the experience of Parties, Governments and relevant organizations such as the Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, the Commission on Sustainable Development and the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, and including, in particular, the Sustainable Use Initiative of IUCN-The World Conservation Union;
- 3. <u>Requests</u> the Executive Secretary to assemble, drawing from an assessment of the case-studies in paragraph 2 above, practical principles, operational guidelines and associated instruments which would assist Parties and Governments to develop ways to achieve the sustainable use of biological diversity, within the framework of the ecosystem approach;
- 4. <u>Notes</u> the important linkages with the programmes of work on indicators (recommendation V/11) and incentive measures and that appropriate indicators and incentive measures are essential elements in developing effective approaches to the sustainable use of biological diversity;
- 5. <u>Commends</u> to the Executive Secretary the process used to develop the ecosystem approach and requests the Executive Secretary to adapt that process for the work on sustainable use, and report on its progress under paragraphs 2 and 3 above for discussion by the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice at its seventh meeting;
- 6. <u>Invites</u> Parties, Governments and organizations to undertake appropriate actions to assist other Parties to increase their capacity to implement the sustainable-use objective at regional, national and local levels. Appropriate actions may include:
 - (a) Workshops;
- (b) Assistance to Parties in the identification of sectors where priority action is required;
- (c) Assistance to Parties in the development of appropriate action plans;
- (d) Information dissemination and appropriate technology transfer under mutually agreed terms.

V/13. Establishment of quidelines for the second national reports, including indicators and incentive measures

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice

Notes the interim assessment of biodiversity enabling activities prepared by the Global Environment Facility (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/INF/9); and

- 1. Requests the Executive Secretary, for the consideration of the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting, to:
- (a) Revise the matrix contained in annex I to the note by the Executive Secretary on the establishment of guidelines for the second national reports, including indicators and incentive measures (UNEP/CBD/SBSTTA/5/14), taking into account the views expressed at the fifth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice, in particular, cross-referencing the questions on performance with the existing capacity of developing countries, and the need to provide information on the status of biological diversity;
- (b) Propose a format for thematic reports by Parties on items for indepth consideration at meetings of the Conference of the Parties, in accordance with its programme of work;
- 2. <u>Recommends</u> that the Conference of the Parties establish guidelines for future national reports which:
- (a) Request Parties to make use of the matrix contained in annex I to the note by the Executive Secretary, with the revisions referred to in paragraph 1 (a) above, in their national reports;
- (b) Recommend that Parties prepare their national reports through a consultative process involving all relevant stakeholders, as appropriate, or by drawing upon information developed through other consultative processes;
 - (c) Request Parties to submit their reports:
 - (i) Every four years;
 - (ii) Twelve months prior to the meeting of the Conference of the Parties that will consider the report;
 - (iii) In a working language of the Conference of the Parties;
 - (iv) In both hard copy and electronic format;
- (d) Request Parties to submit their next national report by a date to be decided by the Conference of the Parties, and thereafter for consideration at alternate ordinary meetings of the Conference of the Parties, and include them in their clearing-house mechanism national focal point where feasible;
- 3. Recommends that the Conference of the Parties $\underline{invites}$ Parties to prepare detailed thematic reports on one or more of the items for in-depth consideration by meetings of the Conference of the Parties, and $\underline{inviteS}$ Parties to submit such reports:

- (a) In accordance with the format referred to in paragraph 1 (b) above;
 - (b) By a date to be determined by the Conference of the Parties;
 - (c) In a working language of the Conference of the Parties;
 - (d) In both hard copy and electronic format;
- 4. <u>Recommends</u> that the Conference of the Parties request the Executive Secretary to:
- (a) Prepare reports based on information contained in national reports for consideration by the Conference of the Parties at its meetings, and make them available through the clearing-house mechanism;
- (b) Keep the format of national reports under review, and provide further advice to the Conference of Parties on its revision;
- (c) Proceed with the further development of the proposals for streamlining national reporting contained in section 5.2 of the "Feasibility study for a harmonized information management infrastructure for biodiversity-related treaties", in collaboration with the secretariats of the other biodiversity-related conventions and report on progress to the Conference of the Parties at its sixth meeting;
- 5. <u>Recommends</u> that the Conference of the Parties invite organizations, such as the United Nations Development Programme and the United Nations Environment Programme, undertaking regional or global programmes providing support to Parties in biodiversity planning, including capacity development, to provide the Executive Secretary with information on programme activities and lessons learned;
- 6. <u>Recommends</u> that the Conference of the Parties consider the need for arrangements for making financial resources available to eligible Parties to assist in the preparation of their national reports.

V/14. Ad hoc technical expert groups: terms of reference, and roster of experts and proposal on a uniform methodology for their use

The Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice,

<u>Recognizing</u> the instrumental role to be played by the experts in the rosters in order to assist in the implementation of the Convention,

Stressing that ad hoc technical expert groups should be established only where there is a significant assessment need, with due regard to geographical representation and to the special condition of least developed countries and small island developing States,

Noting recommendation 1 C of the Inter-Sessional Meeting on the Operations of the Convention to the fifth meeting of the Conference of the Parties on the improvement in the operations of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice,

- 1. Requests the Executive Secretary to further develop the methodology for the use of rosters of experts and ad hoc technical expert groups, taking into consideration the modus operandi of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice, recommendation 1 C of the Inter-Sessional Meeting on the Operations of the Convention, the report of the brainstorming meeting on scientific assessment held in Oslo in November 1999 (UNEP/CBD/COP/5/INF/1), the guidance provided in annex I to the present recommendation, and the views expressed at the fifth meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice;
 - 2. Recommends that the Conference of the Parties:
- (a) Approves the terms of reference and the duration of work specified for the ad hoc technical expert groups on marine and coastal protected areas and mariculture, as contained in annex II to the present recommendation;
- (b) <u>Establishes</u> the ad hoc technical expert group on forest biological diversity and approve the terms of reference as contained in annex II to the present recommendation, taking into account the outcome of the Intergovernmental Forum on Forests and other relevant international processes;
- (c) <u>Encourages</u> Parties, other Governments and relevant bodies when nominating their experts for inclusion in the roster to consider:
 - (i) Gender balance;
 - (ii) Involvement of indigenous people and members of local communities;
 - (iii) Range of relevant disciplines and expertise, including, <u>inter alia</u>, biological, legal, social and economic sciences, and traditional knowledge;
- 3. Requests the Conference of the Parties to address the budgetary matters related to annex I to the present recommendation, noting in particular that the cost of participation in expert groups may affect the ability of experts to participate.

Annex I

PROPOSAL ON A UNIFORM METHODOLOGY FOR THE USE OF ROSTERS OF EXPERTS

Basic principles

- 1. The Executive Secretary will seek input from relevant national focal points and relevant organizations for the rosters of experts covering the fields of expertise required for the implementation of the Convention on Biological Diversity, including, <u>inter alia</u>, biological, legal, social and economic sciences, and traditional knowledge.
- 2. The rosters of experts will be compiled by the Executive Secretary of the Convention on Biological Diversity on the basis of input from Parties, Governments and relevant bodies.
- 3. The rosters of experts will be accessible through the clearing-house mechanism of the Convention, and other mechanisms as appropriate, and be linked through it to other relevant rosters of experts at the national, regional, and international level.
- 4. For rosters to be created for specific expert groups with specific terms of reference, the Executive Secretary will solicit input from national focal points and relevant organizations on each such occasion with the intention of using such rosters only for that purpose.
- 5. In administering the rosters of experts, the Executive Secretary will endeavour to use innovative and efficient means of communication and ensure transparency through the issuance of notifications.
- 6. The Executive Secretary through the national focal points and relevant bodies will update the rosters of experts regularly and will endeavour to ensure representation from all geographical regions and gender balance.
- 7. The Secretariat will notify the work currently being carried out by it through the clearing-house mechanism and will invite input to it by mail or e-mail or other cost-effective means from members of the relevant roster of experts who have experience or information to share, who have not been selected for meetings, or who do not currently contribute to listserv discussions.

Functions of the roster of experts

- 1. To perform specific tasks as requested by the Conference of the Parties and its subsidiary bodies, in particular SBSTTA, including, <u>inter alia</u>, involvement in the activities of ad hoc technical expert groups and liaison groups.
- 2. To provide the Executive Secretary and, as appropriate, Parties, Governments and relevant bodies with substantive contributions including,

<u>inter alia</u>, peer reviews 8/ on matters relating to the Convention on Biological Diversity by drawing from a wide range of disciplines and expertise available at the national, regional and international levels.

Ways and means to contact/communicate with the experts 9/

- 1. Clearing-house mechanism of the Convention, and other mechanisms as appropriate.
- 2. Periodic newsletters (electronic and other forms) produced by the Secretariat, to be distributed to all experts on the roster, to communicate general information on activities planned or undertaken of the Secretariat, with a view to keeping the experts involved, well informed, and connected to the process. General information should preferably reach the experts on certain fixed intervals of, for instance, three months.
- 3. Direct contacts by e-mail, fax, letter, telephone or in person with all the experts or experts on specific themes/issues.
- 4. Establishment of a listserv to allow and foster discussions by electronic mail between the experts themselves following a specific request from the Executive Secretary. Listservs should run for a fixed period of time, and should preferably be chaired by one or two experts. The lead expert(s) is/are in charge of the discussion on the server, and report to the Secretariat with the results. For such a system to be fruitful, several conditions may apply:
- (a) The number of experts involved in a listserv discussion should not exceed 20;
- (b) The Executive Secretary should strictly define: (i) the requests;(ii) the type of expected outputs; and (iii) deadlines.
- 5. Convene expert group meetings.

 $[\]underline{8}/$ Peer reviews allow for a small group of experts to provide input, thereby broadening the perspective of, and participation in, the final product (reports, draft pre-session documents, etc.). Peer reviews may be used to analyse products of listserv discussions, ad hoc technical expert groups, meetings of experts as well as draft documents. Requests for peer reviews should be accompanied by clear terms of reference from the Secretariat.

 $[\]underline{9}/\,$ As necessary, the Secretariat will copy to the focal points its communications with the experts.

Annex II*

PROPOSED TERMS OF REFERENCE AND DURATION OF WORK FOR THE AD HOC TECHNICAL EXPERT GROUPS ON MARINE AND COASTAL PROTECTED AREAS, MARICULTURE AND FOREST BIOLOGICAL DIVERSITY

A. Ad hoc technical expert group on marine and coastal protected areas

Terms of reference 10/

- 1. Identify pilot research and monitoring projects, based on current proposals and ongoing projects aimed at assessing the value and effects of marine and coastal protected areas or similarly managed areas on sustainable use of marine and coastal living resources.
- 2. Review the desk-study called for in the operational objective 3.1, activity (c), of the programme of work on marine and coastal biological diversity (decision IV/5, annex). The desk-study to be conducted by the Executive Secretary consists of gathering and assimilating information relevant to the value and effect of marine and coastal protected areas on sustainable use of marine and coastal biodiversity.
- 3. Identify linkages between marine protected areas and sustainable use of marine and coastal biodiversity.
- 4. Prepare recommendations on types of research to be carried out to understand the effects of marine and coastal protected or closed areas on population size and dynamics, subject to national legislation.

<u>Duration of work</u>

The ad hoc technical expert group on marine and coastal protected areas should start its work immediately after approval by the Conference of the Parties of the terms of reference and shall endeavour to complete the work not later than the eighth meeting of SBSTTA, at which "protected areas" will be an item for in-depth consideration (see the SBSTTA programme of work in recommendation IV/1 C), and the seventh meeting of the Conference of the Parties at which "protected areas" will be an item for in-depth consideration. Items 1, 3 and 4 can be undertaken immediately, but item 2 will start when the desk-study is complete.

B. Ad hoc technical expert group on mariculture

Terms of reference 11/

- 1. Evaluate the current state of scientific and technological knowledge on the effects of mariculture on marine and coastal biodiversity.
- 2. Provide guidance on criteria, methods and techniques that avoid the adverse effects of mariculture, and also subsequent stock enhancement, on

^{*} To recommendation V/14.

 $[\]underline{10}$ / In accordance with programme element 3, operational objective 3.1, of the Jakarta Mandate programme of work.

 $[\]underline{11}/$ In accordance with programme element 4 of the Jakarta Mandate programme of work.

marine and coastal biological diversity and enhance the positive effects of mariculture on marine and coastal productivity.

<u>Duration of work</u>

The ad hoc expert group on mariculture should start immediately after the approval on the terms of reference by the Conference of the Parties. The time for the completion of these activities so that their output can be considered in depth by SBSTTA will depend on the time when SBSTTA might be requested by the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting to report or advise on aspects relating to sustainable use of biodiversity or when the Conference of the Parties might decide to review the Jakarta Mandate programme of work.

C. Ad hoc technical expert group on forest biological diversity

Terms of reference

- 1. Provide advice on scientific programmes and international cooperation in research and development related to conservation and sustainable use of forest biological diversity.
- 2. (a) Carry out a review of available information on the status and trends of, and major threats to, forest biological biodiversity, to identify significant gaps in that information.
- (b) Identify options for the conservation and sustainable use of forest biological diversity applying the principle of ecosystem approach and sustainable forest management, taking into account proposals for action agreed by the Intergovernmental Panel on Forests (IPF) and the Intergovernmental Forum on Forests (IFF) as well as the work of other relevant international processes and organizations including the Food and Agricultural Organization of the United Nations, processes related to criteria and indicators, the International Tropical Timber Organization, and the Centre for International Forestry Research (CIFOR), through activities such as:
 - (i) Identifying new measures and ways to improve the conservation of forest biological diversity in and outside existing protected areas;
 - (ii) Identifying practical measures to mitigate the direct and underlying causes of forest biodiversity loss;
 - (iii) Identifying tools and mechanisms to implement the identified measures and actions;
 - (iv) Identifying measures for the restoration of degraded forest; and
 - (v) Identifying strategies for enhancement of collaborative management with local and indigenous communities.
- (c) Prepare advice, in collaboration with the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, in order to integrate biodiversity considerations, including biodiversity conservation, in forest carbon sequestration projects;

- (d) To identify innovative, efficient and state-of-the-art technologies and know-how relating to assessment, planning, conservation and sustainable use of forest biodiversity and provide advice on ways and means of promoting the development and transfer of such technologies.
- 3. On the basis of case-studies, assess the effects of types of forest-related measures taken in accordance with Convention.

<u>Duration of work</u>

The work on forest biodiversity should be initiated immediately after approval by the Conference of the Parties at its fifth meeting of the terms of reference, and completed not later than the seventh meeting of SBSTTA, in time for the sixth meeting of the Conference of the Parties, which will consider forest biodiversity as one of the main priority issues.

Annex II

PROVISIONAL AGENDA FOR THE SIXTH MEETING OF THE SUBSIDIARY BODY ON SCIENTIFIC, TECHNICAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE

- 1. Opening of the meeting.
- 2. Organizational matters:
 - 2.1. Election of officers;
 - 2.2. Adoption of the agenda;
 - 2.3. Organization of work.
- 3. Reports:
- 3.1. Marine and coastal biological diversity;
- 3.2. Inland water biological diversity.
- 4. Priority issue: Alien invasive species.
- 5. Draft provisional agenda for the seventh meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice.
- 6. Dates and venue of the seventh meeting of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice.
- 7. Other matters.
- 8. Adoption of the report.
- 9. Closure of the meeting.

Annex III

DRAFT PROVISIONAL AGENDA FOR THE SEVENTH MEETING OF THE SUBSIDIARY BODY ON SCIENTIFIC, TECHNICAL AND TECHNOLOGICAL ADVICE

- 1. Opening of the meeting.
- 2. Organizational matters:
 - 2.1. Election of officers;
 - 2.2. Adoption of the agenda;
 - 2.3. Organization of work.
- 3. Reports:
 - 3.1. Biological diversity of dryland, arid, semi-arid, Mediterranean, savannah and grassland ecosystems;
 - 3.2. Agricultural biological diversity.
- 4. Priority issue: Forest biological diversity.
- 5. Draft provisional agendas for the eighth and ninth meetings of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice.
- 6. Dates and venue of the eighth and ninth meetings of the Subsidiary Body on Scientific, Technical and Technological Advice.
- 7. Other matters.
- 8. Adoption of the report.
- 9. Closure of the meeting.
